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ANNUAL CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT FOR 

SPANISH SAVINGS BANKS (CAJAS DE AHORRO) ISSUING 

SECURITIES LISTED ON ORGANISED MARKETS 

 

 

For a better understanding of the model and its subsequent preparation, please read the 

instructions provided at the end before filling it out. 

 

 

A    STRUCTURE AND FUNCTIONING OF THE GOVERNING BODIES 

 

A.1. GENERAL ASSEMBLY 

 

A.1.1. Identify the members of the General Assembly and indicate the class 

to which each member belongs. 

 

See Addendum 

 

A.1.2. Provide details on the composition of the General Assembly by 

member class. 

 

 

Member class Number of General 

Assembly members 

% of total 

LOCAL AUTHORITIES 31 19.872 

DEPOSITORS 64 41.026 

FOUNDING INSTITUTIONS OR 

INDIVIDUALS 

0 0.000 

EMPLOYEES 20 12.821 

FOUNDING AND COMMUNITY-

INTEREST INSTITUTIONS  

41 26.282 

Total 156 100.000 
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A.1.3. Detail the functions of the General Assembly. 

 

 Pursuant to Legislative Decree 1/2008, of March 11, approving the 

Consolidated Text of the Catalan Savings Banks Law, the General 

Assembly is the supreme governing and decision-making body of “la 

Caixa”.  Its members are referred to as “consejeros generales” (hereinafter 

general directors), tasked with oversight of the Savings Bank’s assets, 

safeguarding the interests of its depositors and ensuring its welfare remit is 

fulfilled, and setting the guidelines for the performance of the same. 

  

 Pursuant to article 22 of the aforementioned Law, the General Assembly 

shall appoint and dismiss the members of the Board of Directors and the 

members of the Control Committee; appraise the reasons for removing and 

dismissing the members of the governing bodies before the end of their 

term of office; approve and amend the By-laws and Regulations; decide 

upon the manner in which the Savings Bank pursues its corporate purpose 

as a credit institution, agree upon the modification of its institutional 

organization, the change of status into a special foundation, the takeover or 

merger and the liquidation or winding-up of the Savings Bank; define the 

General Lines for the Saving Bank’s Annual Action Plan; approve the 

management of the Board of Directors, the annual report, annual balance 

sheet and income statement and apply said results to the specific mandate 

of the Savings Bank; approve the management of welfare projects and 

approve their annual budgets and their settlement, and address whatsoever 

other matters are submitted to its consideration by those bodies 

empowered to do so. The aforementioned Law also grants the General 

Assembly the power to ratify the appointment and dismissal of the Chief 

Executive Officer and, by amending the By-laws, the designation of 

community-interest institutions which may appoint general directors 

representing founding and community-interest institutions. 

  

 These functions are set out in article 11 of the Savings Bank's By-laws. At 

the Annual General Assembly of April 28, 2011, this article was modified to 

include the Assembly's function of providing prior approval for any 

agreement that, either when resolved by "la Caixa" or by the vehicle bank 

through which it indirectly carries out its financial activity (currently 

CaixaBank,S.A.), causes "la Caixa"'s ownership interest in the subject bank 

to fall below the 70% and 60% thresholds. Any decision to lower this 

ownership interest below 50% of total capital also falls to the General 

Assembly. 

 

 

A.1.4. Indicate whether there are regulations for governing the General 

Assembly. If so, describe the content of the regulations. 

 

YES   NO X 
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See Addendum 

 

A.1.5. Explain the rules governing the system of electing, appointing, 

accepting and removing General Assembly members. 

 

 

 -General directors are divided into four groups representing different 

stakeholders: 

  

   - There are 64 general directors representing parties holding deposits in 

the Savings Bank, who have opted for indirect representation. These 

general directors are elected from among the depositors of the bank 

through which "la Caixa" carries out its credit institution activity. These 

members are selected through a drawing held before a notary public. All 

depositors that meet the requirements established by Law and in the By-

laws are included in the drawing. They are elected by districts, with 20 

delegates per district, or constituency, and the delegates subsequently 

elect a general director from amongst their ranks. When appointing 

delegates and electing the general directors, an equivalent number of 

substitutes must be appointed in the event that holders are unable to take 

up office or continue performing their duties. 

  

 - There are 45 general directors representing the founding and community-

interest institutions of “la Caixa” who are appointed directly by the 

respective entity they represent: 20 are appointed by the five founding 

institutions, with four from each one: the Ateneo Barcelonés, the Instituto 

Agrícola Catalán de San Isidro, the Sociedad Económica Barcelonesa de 

Amigos del País, the Barcelona Chamber of Commerce and the Fomento 

del Trabajo Nacional. The remaining 25 are appointed by the 25 

community-interest institutions listed in the Annex to the By-laws. 

  

 - There are 31 general directors representing the local authorities where the 

bank through which "la Caixa" carries out its financial activity operates a 

branch office. These directors are appointed directly by the authorities 

entitled to do so. Pursuant to the legal provisions laid down by the 

Generalitat, these authorities are grouped into two categories: consejos 

comarcales (district councils) and municipios (local councils).  Eight 

directors representing the consejos comarcales have been appointed on a 

rotational basis (this only applies in Catalonia). For their part, some of the 

local councils have a standing delegate as listed in the Regulations for the 

appointment of members of the governing bodies. In 2012 (the year of the 

most recent renewal of the governing bodies), the following local councils 

had a standing delegate: Barcelona with five delegates and Madrid with two 

delegates. The remaining local councils, making up the group’s 31 

members to be chosen in the aforementioned renewal, were chosen by a 

draw, and in 2012 they were distributed as follows: 12 for the local councils 

of the provinces of Barcelona, Tarragona, Girona and Lleida, excluding the 

city of Barcelona; two for local councils of the Autonomous Community of 



Page 6 

Madrid, excluding the city of Madrid; one for the local councils of the 

Autonomous Community of Andalusia and, lastly, one for the local councils 

of the Autonomous Community of Valencia. 

  

   - There are 20 general directors representing employees of the Savings 

Bank and of the bank through which it carries out its financial activity. 

These directors are elected by means of closed lists and proportional 

representation, by permanent members of staff.  In addition to the full 

members, substitutes for the employee representatives are also chosen in 

the event that holders are unable to continue performing their duties. 

  

   The regulations governing the electoral procedure are mainly stipulated in 

the Regulations for appointing members of the governing bodies of “la 

Caixa”, as approved at the General Assembly. 

  

  

 

 

A.1.6. Explain the rules and regulations governing the constitution of the 

General Assembly and the required attendance quorums. 

 

 

 In accordance with the By-laws, the attendance quorum for the General 

Assembly of “la Caixa”, at its first call, is the majority of its full members, 

except in those cases when the agenda involves the removal of members 

of the governing bodies, the approval and amendment of the By-laws and 

the Regulations for appointing members of the governing bodies, 

transformation, merger or any other decision that affects the Savings 

Bank's nature, as well as winding-up and liquidation.  These cases require 

the attendance of two-thirds of its full members. At the second call, the 

Assembly shall be quorate whatever the number of members in attendance, 

save in the cases when the first call requires the attendance of two-thirds of 

its members and the majority of its full members at the second call. 

  

 Following the amendment of Legislative Decree 1/2008 by Decree Law 

5/2010, a larger quorum shall be required in the following cases: when the 

Savings Bank wishes to change its status into a special foundation; when it 

wishes to change the manner in which it pursues its corporate purpose as a 

credit institution; and when it wishes to amend its institutional organization. 

At the Annual General Assembly held on April 28, 2011, the members 

established that a larger quorum is also required for approving any 

agreement that, either when resolved by "la Caixa" or by the vehicle bank 

through which it indirectly carries out its financial activity (currently 

CaixaBank,S.A.), causes "la Caixa"'s ownership interest in the subject bank 

to fall below the 70% and 60% thresholds. A larger quorum is also required 

for any decision to lower this ownership interest below 50% of total capital. 
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A.1.7. Explain the rules governing the adoption of resolutions at the General 

Assembly. 

 

 

 The resolutions of the General Assembly shall be adopted by simple 

majority of the votes of those present, except in the event of the removal of 

the members of the governing bodies, when the vote in favor by the 

majority of its full members is required as the minimum.  In those cases 

involving the amendment of the By-laws and the Regulations on elections 

and on the Savings Bank’s change of status, merger, winding-up or 

liquidation, the vote in favor is required by two-thirds of those in attendance 

with the right to vote. 

  

 A larger voting quorum is also required for agreements pertaining to the 

transformation into a special foundation, the structure through which the 

statutory credit institution activity is carried out, and any changes in 

corporate structure. In accordance with the modification of the By-laws 

resolved at the Annual General Assembly held on April 28, 2011, a larger 

quorum is also required for approving any agreement that, either when 

resolved by "la Caixa" or by the vehicle bank through which it indirectly 

carries out its financial activity (currently CaixaBank,S.A.), causes "la 

Caixa"'s ownership interest in the subject bank to fall below the 70% and 

60% thresholds. Lastly, a larger quorum is also required for any decision to 

lower this ownership interest below 50% of total capital. 

 

 

A.1.8. Explain the rules governing the convening of General Assembly 

meetings and describe the cases in which General Assembly 

members may request a General Assembly meeting to be convened. 

 

 

 The General Assembly shall be called by the Board of Directors with a 

minimum of 15 days notice, by means of an announcement also published 

at least 15 days in advance of the meeting, in the newspapers with the 

widest circulation in Catalonia. The notice shall also be published in the 

official State gazette and the official regional gazette of Catalonia. The 

convening notice shall state the date, time, place and agenda, and the date 

and time of the meeting held at second call. The general directors shall also 

be notified. The 15-day prior notice period is without prejudice to other 

timeframes that may be of mandatory observance in pursuance of current 

legislation.  
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 One third of the members of the General Assembly or of the Board of 

Directors, as well as of the Control Committee, may request that the Board 

of Directors convene an Extraordinary Meeting. The Board must agree to 

this request within 15 days of its submission.  No more than 30 days may 

elapse between the date it is agreed to convene the meeting and the actual 

Assembly, except where more than 15 days notice has been given, in 

which case the period between the date it is agreed to convene the meeting 

and the actual Assembly date shall not exceed the aforementioned 

minimum notice period plus 15 days. 

  

  

 

 

A.1.9. Indicate the attendance figures for General Assembly meetings held 

during the year. 

 

Attendance figures 

 

Date of General 

Assembly 

% attending in 

person 

% remote voting Total 

22-05-2012 95.000 0.000 95 

 

 

A.1.10. Indicate the resolutions adopted at the General Assembly meetings 

held during the year. 

 

 

 The following resolutions were adopted at the Annual General Assembly of 

May 22, 2012: 

  

  

 1) Approval of the 2011 individual and consolidated financial statements, 

including the balance sheet, income statement, the consolidated statement 

of other comprehensive income, the statement of changes in equity, 

statement of cash flows and the notes thereto, and the management report, 

including in a separate section the annual corporate governance report. 

  

 2) Approval of the Board of Directors’ management. 
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 3) Approval of the distribution of profits for 2011. 

  

 4) Approval of the notes to the financial statements, which include the 

management and settlement information for "la Caixa" welfare projects 

carried out in 2011, and the budget for 2012 of welfare projects and of new 

welfare projects. 

  

 5) Approval, pursuant to article 11.6 of the By-laws, of the absorption by 

CaixaBank, S.A. (the vehicle bank of "la Caixa") of Banca Cívica, S.A., with 

a decrease in the ownership interest of Caixa d’Estalvis i Pensions de 

Barcelona below 70% of the capital, without falling below 60%. 

  

 6) Amendment of article 3.3. of the By-laws to eliminate the exception made 

for the Monte de Piedad with regard to the carrying out of financial activity 

indirectly through a bank. 

  

 7) Amendment of article 19.6 of the By-laws to eliminate the minimum 

number of meetings of the Executive Committee of the Board of Directors. 

  

 8) Re-election of the Auditor, for both the individual and consolidated 

financial statements 

  

 9) Appointment and ratification of permanent and substitute members of the 

Board of Directors and Control Committee. 

  

 10) Authorization of the Board of Directors to approve the issue of any type 

of securities, fixed income or equities, excluding equity units (cuotas 

participativas) 

  

 11) Approval of the general guidelines for the financial entity’s annual action 

plan 

  

 12) Annual report on remuneration of members of the Board of Directors 

and of the Control Committee. 

  

 13) Delegation of powers to execute the above resolutions. 
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A.1.11. Detail the information provided to General Assembly members on 

occasion of the General Assembly meetings. Describe the systems in 

place for accessing this information. 

 

 

 Two weeks (15 days) prior to the General Assembly, general directors are 

able to access and examine the following documents at the corporate 

offices: individual and consolidated financial statements and audit reports 

for the Savings Bank itself and its welfare projects; proposed amendments 

to the By-laws and the regulations for appointing members of the governing 

bodies that are to be submitted for approval along with the corresponding 

report drawn up by the Board; the guidelines for the Action Plan and all the 

resolutions drafted by the Board at that time and to be submitted for 

approval at the Assembly; and the annual corporate governance report. 

Information as stipulated by special regulations is also provided, as in the 

case of application of the Law governing structural changes in mercantile 

companies. 

  

 Notwithstanding the above, on certain specific occasions, and prior to the 

holding of the General Assembly, meetings of general directors shall be 

convened grouped by geographical areas and attended by the Chairman, 

CEO and head of welfare projects to explain to these directors the points on 

the agenda and the Savings Bank’s performance over the previous year. 

These meetings may also be attended by other people in the Savings Bank 

with special responsibility for certain matters on the agenda. For example, 

the General Secretary and the Secretary of the Board of Directors may 

attend when proposed amendments to the By-laws are to be tabled. 

  

  

 

 

A.1.12. Provide details of the internal systems in place to monitor compliance 

with the resolutions adopted at the General Assembly. 

 

 

 No specific powers have been granted to the Board of Directors to monitor 

compliance with the resolutions adopted. One of the functions of the 

Control Committee is to supervise the Board’s management by ensuring its 

resolutions are consistent with the guidelines and resolutions of the General 

Assembly. In addition, article 21.4.8 of the By-laws empowers the CEO to 

implement the resolutions of the governing bodies. 
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A.1.13. Indicate the address and mode of accessing corporate governance 

content on your company‟s website. 

 

 

 www.lacaixa.com 

 

 

 The home page has a section called “Investors information” that provides 

access to all mandatory information in accordance with Ministerial Order 

354/2004, of February 17, 2004. 

 

A.2. Board of Directors 

 

A.2.1. Complete the following table with Directors‟ details: 

 

 

Name Position on the Board Member class 

FAINÉ CASAS, ISIDRO CHAIRMAN DEPOSITORS 

GABARRÓ SERRA, SALVADOR 1ST DEPUTY CHAIRMAN DEPOSITORS 

GODÓ MUNTAÑOLA, JAVIER 2ND DEPUTY CHAIRMAN FOUNDING AND 

COMMUNITY-INTEREST 

INSTITUTIONS  

AURIN PARDO, EVA DIRECTOR DEPOSITORS 

BARBER WILLEMS, VICTÒRIA DIRECTOR DEPOSITORS 

BASSONS BONCOMPTE, MARIA 

TERESA 

DIRECTOR FOUNDING AND 

COMMUNITY-INTEREST 

INSTITUTIONS  

CABRA MARTORELL, 

MONTSERRAT 

DIRECTOR DEPOSITORS 

GUÀRDIA CANELA, JOSEP-DELFÍ DIRECTOR FOUNDING AND 

COMMUNITY-INTEREST 

INSTITUTIONS  

HABSBURG LOTHRINGEN, 

MONIKA 

DIRECTOR FOUNDING AND 

COMMUNITY-INTEREST 

INSTITUTIONS  

HOMS FERRET, FRANCESC DIRECTOR LOCAL AUTHORITIES 

IBARZ ALEGRÍA, XAVIER DIRECTOR LOCAL AUTHORITIES 
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LLOBET MARIA, DOLORS DIRECTOR EMPLOYEES 

LÓPEZ BURNIOL, JUAN-JOSÉ DIRECTOR FOUNDING AND 

COMMUNITY-INTEREST 

INSTITUTIONS  

LÓPEZ MARTÍNEZ, MARIO DIRECTOR DEPOSITORS 

MARTÍN PUENTE, ESTEFANÍA 

JUDIT 

DIRECTOR DEPOSITORS 

NOGUER PLANAS, MIQUEL DIRECTOR LOCAL AUTHORITIES 

NOVELLA MARTÍNEZ, JUSTO 

BIENVENIDO 

DIRECTOR EMPLOYEES 

ROBLES GORDALIZA, ANA DIRECTOR DEPOSITORS 

RODÉS CASTAÑÉ, LEOPOLDO DIRECTOR FOUNDING AND 

COMMUNITY-INTEREST 

INSTITUTIONS  

SIMÓN CARRERAS, JOSEP JOAN DIRECTOR LOCAL AUTHORITIES 

ZARAGOZÀ ALBA, JOSEP 

FRANCESC 

DIRECTOR EMPLOYEES 

 

 

TOTAL 21 

 

 Provide details on the composition of the Board of Directors by 

member class: 

 

Member class Number of Directors % of total 

LOCAL AUTHORITIES 4 19.048 

DEPOSITORS 8 38.095 

FOUNDING INSTITUTIONS OR 

INDIVIDUALS 

0 0.000 

EMPLOYEES 3 14.286 

FOUNDING AND COMMUNITY-

INTEREST INSTITUTIONS  

6 28.571 

Total 21 100.000 

 

 Indicate any Directors who left during this period. 

 

Name Leaving date  

BARTOLOMÉ GIL, MARÍA TERESA 22-05-2012 

CALVO SASTRE, AINA 22-05-2012 
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JUAN FRANCH, INMACULADA 22-05-2012 

LÓPEZ FERRERES, MONTSERRAT 22-05-2012 

MERCADER MIRÓ, JORDI 22-05-2012 

MORA VALLS, ROSA MARIA 22-05-2012 

VILLALBA FERNÁNDEZ, NURIA ESTHER 22-05-2012 

 

 Where applicable, indicate any Directors who are not General 

Assembly members: 

 

Name 

 

 

 

A.2.2. Briefly describe the functions of the Board of Directors, distinguishing 

between functions pertaining to the Board itself and those delegated 

by the General Assembly: 

 

Functions pertaining to the Board 

 

 The Board of Directors shall exercise the functions of governance, 

management, administration and representation of the Savings Bank in all 

those matters pertaining to the conduct of its business and affairs.  In a 

more detailed manner, albeit solely for illustrative purposes and not limited 

to, the By-laws stipulate that the Board shall be responsible for ensuring 

compliance with the By-laws, convening the Assembly; submitting to the 

Assembly for approval, as appropriate, of the report, the annual balance 

sheet, the income statement and the proposal for the application of 

earnings to the specific purposes of “la Caixa”; submitting to the Assembly 

proposals for the appointment of members of the other governing bodies; 

executing and enforcing execution of the resolutions of the Assembly; 

initiating the processes for appointing general directors and the CEO; 

appointing the pertinent committees to best study the matters falling to it, 

delegating these functions and granting powers and authorizations; 

determining and amending the Savings Bank’s internal structure and 

general organization and laying down the guidelines for organizing the 

program for opening branch offices, agencies and offices; determining the 

types of services and operations; creating, terminating or winding-up 

welfare projects; deciding upon the investment of funds, procedures of 

administration, withdrawal and encumbrance; exercising administrative, 

judicial and extra-judicial procedures; drawing up the general lines of staff 

policy; proposing the amendment of the By-laws, the transformation of the 

Savings Bank into a special foundation, the structure through which it will 

carry out its statutory credit institution activity, changes in corporate 

structure, as well as the merger, winding-up or liquidation; drafting the 

annual corporate governance report; adopting any decisions deemed 
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appropriate for proper management and administration of the Entity in 

exceptional or unforeseen circumstances; and, in general, carrying out any 

resolutions required to ensure the pursuit of the Savings Bank’s aims and 

purposes. 

  

 In accordance with the Savings Bank's By-laws, the foregoing functions fall 

to the Board of Directors. Given that the indirect exercise of the financial 

activity was approved at the Annual General Assembly held on April 28, 

2011, the By-laws specifically state that financial activities referred to 

therein shall be understood to be carried out by the relevant vehicle bank.  

  

  

  

 

Functions delegated by the General Assembly 

 

 As agreed at the Annual General Assembly held on May 22, 2012, the 

Board of Directors is authorized, and may, in turn, delegate powers to the 

Executive Committee, to agree and set the pertinent terms and conditions, 

or delegate any powers deemed necessary, on one or more occasions, for 

the issuance of any type of securities, fixed income or equities, excluding 

equity units, in any form allowed by Law, including promissory notes, 

covered bonds, warrants, preference shares, debentures and bonds of any 

class, including subordinated, simple or with guarantees of any kind, 

directly or via holding companies and, in this case, also, with or without a 

guarantee from la Caixa d'Estalvis i Pensions de Barcelona, up to a limit of 

€75 billion or its equivalent value in other currencies, providing they do not 

exceed the legal limits established, via definitive issuances, extensions, 

authorizations or programs. 

  

 This authorization is valid for three years and revokes the unused part of 

the previous authorization granted at the Annual General Assembly held on 

April 28, 2011. 

  

 

Detail the non-delegable functions of the Board of Directors. 

 

 The Board may not delegate the submission of proposals to the General 

Assembly or the powers the latter may have specifically vested in the 

Board, unless expressly authorized to do so. 
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A.2.3. Detail the functions that the By-laws attribute to members of the 

Board of Directors. 

 

 

 The By-laws make specific mention, within the members of the board, to 

the figure of the Chairman, who also holds that office in the Savings Bank, 

and to the Deputy Chairmen, who shall replace the Chairman in the event 

of absence. The Chairman of the Board of Directors represents “la Caixa”, 

in the name of the Board and the Assembly and his powers include: 

representing the Savings Bank without prejudice to the functions of the 

Board of Directors; convening the Assembly at the behest of the Board; 

presiding and chairing the meetings of the Assembly and convening, 

presiding and chairing the meetings of the Board, the Welfare Projects 

Committee, the Executive Committee, the Investment Committee and the 

Appointments and Remuneration Committee.  The Chairman has a casting 

vote and, as the Savings Bank’s official signatory, is responsible for signing 

the minutes and certifications; ensuring compliance with the law, the By-

laws and regulations and deciding upon and acting as appropriate in the 

case of an emergency should it not be advisable to delay any matter until it 

is resolved by the competent body; and informing on the decisions or 

actions taken at the next meeting of the body in question.  

  

  

 

 

A.2.4. Indicate any powers delegated to Directors and the Managing 

Director. 

 

Directors 

 

Name Brief description 

  

 

 

Managing Director 

 

Name Brief description 

NIN GÉNOVA, JUAN MARÍA THE POWERS VESTED IN AND DELEGATED TO THE 

INSTITUTION’S CEO, ARE DETAILED IN SECTION K IN 
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THIS REPORT. 

 

 

A.2.5. Detail the rules and regulations in place governing the election, 

appointment, acceptance, re-election, dismissal and removal of 

Directors. List the competent bodies, procedures and criteria used for 

each procedure. 

 

 

 

 The members of the Board of Directors are appointed by the General 

Assembly: eight represent depositors, of whom six shall be general 

directors from this stakeholder group and two may be persons who are not 

general directors and meet the appropriate requirements of 

professionalism; six represent the founding and community-interest 

institutions chosen from amongst the general directors from this group; four 

represent local authorities, of whom two shall be general directors from this 

stakeholder group and two may be persons who are not general directors 

and meet the appropriate requirements of professionalism; and three 

represent employees and are chosen from amongst the general directors 

from this group.  

  

  

  

 

 

 Proposed appointments to the Board of Directors may be submitted to the 

Assembly by the Board of Directors, and by a group of general directors 

from the same stakeholder group numbering no fewer than 33 in the case 

of depositors, 23 in the case of founding and community-interest 

institutions, 16 in the case of local authorities and 11 in the case of 

employees, as well as a group of 40 general directors even when they are 

not from the same group for each member proposed. 

  

 In addition to the full members of the Board of Directors, an equal number 

of substitute directors for each stakeholder group must be appointed.  They 

shall have the sole purpose of replacing the full members in the case of 

dismissal or removal before the end of their term of office and for the 

remaining time . Should a vacancy arise, the substitute shall automatically 

take the place of the full member.  In the event that the Assembly has not 

specified the order of access of the substitutes or issued an express 

statement on the matter, the Board of Directors shall choose the substitute 

to replace the full member from within each stakeholder group. 

  



Page 17 

  

 

 

 The members of the Board of Directors appointed by the General Assembly 

shall accept their positions before the Assembly or before the Board of 

Directors, so that this may be recorded in the Company Register.  In the 

event that such acceptance is not made before the Assembly or Board, this 

acceptance must be ratified by a certificate signed in the presence of a 

Notary Public. 

 

 

 The members of the Board of Directors shall serve a six-year term of office 

and may be reelected by the Savings Bank’s General Assembly for up to a 

maximum period of 12 years.  Any substitutions they may have held shall 

not be taken into account when calculating the maximum period of office 

and an entire term of office shall be attributed to the full member originally 

appointed. The calculation of the eight-year limit starts again eight years 

after the previous term expires. Nevertheless, pursuant to Transitory 

Provision Two of Decree 164/2008, general directors who hold office for 

periods of different duration as a result of the amendment made by Law 

14/2006 of July 27 (which extended the duration of the term of office from 

four to six years), may complete the terms for which they were elected 

before the time limit of 12 years for the exercise of such office. 

 

 

 The members of the Board of Directors shall leave office once their term of 

office has expired; when they are subject to any of the cases of 

incompatibility; or in the case of; resignation, death or legal incapacity. 

 

 

 The members of the Board of Directors may be dismissed by the General 

Assembly for unexplained absence from more than a quarter of Board 

meetings. 

 

 

A.2.6. Are special majorities other than those envisaged by law required for 

certain resolutions? 

 

YES   NO X 
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Describe how resolutions are adopted by the Board of Directors and specify, at 

least, the minimum attendance quorum and the type of majority for adopting 

resolutions. 

 

Adopting resolutions 

 

Description of resolution Quorum Type of majority 

APPOINTMENT OF THE CHAIRMAN OF 

THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS 

66.70 – GIVEN THE 

MAJORITY NEEDED 

FOR THE 

RESOLTUION TO 

BE ADOPTED, THE 

PRESENCE IS 

REQUIRED OF 

TWO-THIRDS OF 

THE MEMBERS OF 

THE BOARD 

TWO-THIRDS MAJORITY 

OF THE MEMBERS OF THE 

BOARD. 

ALL OTHER RESOLUTIONS  51.00 – THE 

MEETING IS TO BE 

CONVENED IN THE 

PRESENCE OF THE 

MAJORITY OF ITS 

FULL MEMBERS 

THE ADOPTION OF 

RESOLUTIONS REQUIRES 

THE VOTE IN FAVOUR OF 

THE MAJORITY OF THOSE 

ATTENDING EITHER IN 

PERSON OR BY PROXY. 

 

 

A.2.7. Provide details of the internal systems in place to ensure compliance 

with the resolutions adopted by the Board. 

 

 

 There is no specific system in place to monitor compliance with the 

resolutions.  Article 21.4.8 of the By-laws empowers the CEO to implement 

the resolutions of the governing bodies. 

 

 

A.2.8. Indicate whether there are internal regulations governing the Board of 

Directors. If so, describe their contents. 

 

 

YES   NO X 

 

See Addendum 

 

A.2.9. Explain the rules governing the convening of Board meetings. 
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 The Board of Directors shall meet and shall be convened by the Chairman 

or the person performing the latter's functions in accordance with the By-

laws, as many times as required for the proper operation of the entity, but at 

least six times per year, once every two months. 

  

 It shall also meet on request by at least one third of the full members of the 

Board or as requested by the Control Committee. Likewise, a Board 

meeting may be requested by the Executive Committee and the Welfare 

Projects Committee. In order to be considered, the application or request 

must include the agenda for the meeting to be convened. The Chief 

Executive Officer (CEO) may also propose that a meeting be convened. 

  

 The notice shall be sent out in such a manner as to ensure its receipt by all 

the members at least forty-eight hours prior to the meeting, save in cases of 

exceptional urgency when the period is reduced to twelve hours. 

  

 Nevertheless, the Board shall be deemed to have been convened and 

validly constituted as a Universal Board Meeting to deal with any matter 

within its competence, in all cases when all its members are present either 

in person or by proxy, together with the CEO, and provided that the 

attendees unanimously agree that such a meeting be held. 

  

  

 

 

A.2.10. Indicate the occasions on which Directors may ask for a Board 

meeting to be convened. 

 

 

 As stated in the preceding section, article 17.2 of the By-laws stipulates that 

the Board shall also meet at the request of, at least, one third of its full 

members.  This rule is of a general nature and not restricted to specific 

circumstances.  

 

 

A.2.11. Indicate the number of Board meetings held during the year and how 

many meetings were held in the absence of the Chairman. 
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Number of Board meetings 15 

Number of Board meetings held at which the Chairman was absent  

 

 

A.2.12. Detail the information provided to Directors in connection with Board 

meetings. Describe the systems in place for accessing this 

information. 

 

 

 

 All the proposals submitted in writing are made available to members on 

the day of the Board meeting and up to the time it is held. In the special 

case of the drafting of the financial statements, as well as the approval of 

the annual corporate governance report or any other documents of special 

complexity or length, these documents are delivered to all members at least 

forty-eight hours in advance. 

 

 

 Members may consult the resolutions at the Savings Bank’s General 

Secretariat  while the financial statements, annual corporate governance 

report and any other documents of special complexity or length are 

delivered to each member individually. 

 

 

A.2.13. Identify the Executive Chairman and, where applicable, Executive Vice 

Chairman or Chairmen and the Managing Director and related 

positions. 

 

 

Name Position 

NIN GÉNOVA, JUAN MARÍA CEO 

 

 

A.2.14. Indicate whether there are any specific requirements other than those 

pertaining to Directors in order for a person to be appointed Chairman 

of the Board. 
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YES   NO X 

 

 

Description of requirements 

 

 

 

A.2.15. Indicate whether the Chairman of the Board has a casting vote. 

 

 

YES X  NO  

 

 

Business in relation to which a casting vote may be used 

The By-laws grant the Chairman of the Board of Directors a casting vote in those cases in which there is a tie in the 

voting. This rule is not, therefore, restricted to specific matters. This rule is not, therefore, restricted to specific matters. 

 

 

A.2.16. Indicate whether the consolidated and individual financial statements 

submitted for authorisation for issue by the Board are certified 

previously. 

 

YES   NO X 

 

Identify, where applicable, the person(s) who have certified the entity's individual 

and consolidated financial statements prior to their authorisation for issue by the 

Board. 

 

Name Position 

  

 

 

A.2.17. Explain the mechanisms, if any, established by the Board of Directors 

to prevent the individual and consolidated financial statements it 

prepares from being laid before the General Assembly with a qualified 

Audit Report. 
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YES X  NO  

 

 

Explanation of the mechanisms 
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“la Caixa” is governed, ruled, run, represented and controlled by the General Assembly, the Board of Directors and 

the Control Committee. 

 

The Board of Directors is responsible for preparing the individual and consolidated financial statements and for 

submitting them for approval to the General Assembly.   Accordingly, it has the powers to adopt the measures and 

implement those mechanisms as required to ensure it is aware, throughout the entire annual process, of the 

independent auditor’s opinion regarding the aforementioned financial statements. 

 

In turn, the Control Committee, an independent body from the Board of Directors, has, amongst others, the powers to 

oversee the activities and the business undertaken by the Savings Bank’s own auditing bodies; to receive the 

independent auditor’s report and those recommendations made by the auditors, as well as review the balance sheet, 

the income statement and all the other financial statements for each year and submit any observations it deems 

convenient.  The Control Committee has all the additional functions attributed to the Audit Committee, which include 

being informed of the financial reporting process and internal control systems and establishing appropriate 

relationships with the independent auditors to receive information on those issues that may jeopardize their 

independence, those related to the process of auditing the accounts and any other communications provided for in 

current audit legislation. The Control Committee shall inform the General Assembly of all other matters within its remit. 

 

Pursuant to its functions, throughout the year the Control Committee holds regular meetings with the independent 

auditors regarding the progress of the auditing process and so that it may assess and pre-empt any situations that 

might lead to a qualified auditor’s report being issued. 

 

Special care is taken to ensure the following: 

 

-That the financial statements give a true and fair view of the net assets, financial position, operating results, changes 

in equity and cash-flows of both the Savings Bank and its Group, and contain sufficient information to allow them to be 

properly interpreted and understood. 

 

-That the financial statements and management report give a true and fair view of the financial, legal and fiscal risks, 

etc. arising from the business of the Savings Bank and its Group, as well as the management and coverage of the 

same. 

 

- That the financial statements are drawn up strictly in accordance with the accounting standards applicable to Credit 

Institutions and according to the International Financial Reporting Standards adopted by the European Union for 

consolidated groups and said criteria have been applied uniformly in the current and previous year, to avoid a 

qualified audit report being issued. 

 

- That the planning of the annual auditing process is appropriate and allows the advanced knowledge and correction if 

necessary of any book entry that in the independent auditor’s opinion might lead to a qualified audit report being 

issued. 

 

Nonetheless, if any discrepancy of criteria should arise between the independent auditor and the Board, and the latter 

considers it should uphold its criterion, it shall suitably explain the nature and scope of this discrepancy in the financial 

statements. 
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A.2.18. Detail the measures taken to ensure that the information disclosed to 

the securities markets is reported in a fair and non-discriminatory 

manner. 

 

 

A.2.19. Indicate and explain, where applicable, the mechanisms implemented 

by the savings bank to preserve the independence of the auditor, 

financial analysts, investment banks and rating agencies. 

 

 

YES X  NO  

 

 

Explanation of the mechanisms 

The Control Committee, in its role as Audit Committee, is responsible for proposing to the Board of Directors the 

appointment of the independent auditor and the contractual terms, pursuant to the provisions of approved policies on 

dealings with independent auditors. Accordingly, the Control Committee oversees at all times those situations that 

may jeopardize the independence of the external auditor of “la Caixa” and of the Group.  Specifically, the total fees 

paid to the audit firm  and the fees, if any, paid for services other than auditing, must be reflected in the financial 

statements under “auditing services”. 

 

In addition, a monitoring process is to be undertaken to ensure that the fees paid to the audit firm do not constitute a 

significant part of its overall income, whereby they do not condition or compromise its independence. 

 

Furthermore, it obtains information to verify strict compliance with current legislation governing the criteria of 

independence for auditors, in accordance with Royal Legislative Decree 1/2011 approving the Revised Text of the 

Audit Law, as explained in section A.3.2. 

 

 

 

 

 

A.2.20. Indicate whether the audit firm performs non-audit work for the 

savings bank and/or its group.  If so, state the amount of fees paid for 

such work and the percentage they represent of all fees invoiced to 

the savings bank and/or its group. 

 

YES   NO  

 



Page 25 

 

 Cash Group Total 

Amount for other non-audit work (in thousand €) 0 0 0 

Amount of non-audit work as a % of the total amount 

invoiced by the audit firm  

0.000 0.000  

 

 

A.2.21. Indicate the number of consecutive years during which the current 

audit firm has been auditing the financial statements of the savings 

bank and/or its group. Likewise, indicate for how many years the 

current firm has been auditing the financial statements as a 

percentage of the total number of years over which the financial 

statements have been audited. 

 

 Cash Group 

Number of consecutive years   

 

 

 Cash Group 

Number of years audited by the current auditing firm   

Number of years the savings bank‟s financial statements have 

been audited (%) 

  

 

 

A.2.22. Is there an Executive Committee? If so, identify its members. 

 

YES X  NO  

 

EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE 

 

Name Position 

FAINÉ CASAS, ISIDRO CHAIRMAN 

GABARRÓ SERRA, SALVADOR 1ST DEPUTY CHAIRMAN 

GODÓ MUNTAÑOLA, JAVIER 2ND DEPUTY CHAIRMAN 

AURIN PARDO, EVA MEMBER 

LLOBET MARIA, DOLORS MEMBER 
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NOGUER PLANAS, MIQUEL MEMBER 

RODÉS CASTAÑÉ, LEOPOLDO MEMBER 

 

 

A.2.23. Indicate the delegated duties and those stipulated in the Articles of 

Association vested in the Executive Committee. 

 

 

 The Executive Committee is the permanent delegate body of the Board of 

Directors. On May 27, 1993 the Board resolved to delegate to the Executive 

Committee the powers stipulated in the By-laws without prejudice to any 

powers it may have delegated to other persons, especially the CEO.  The 

Board shall: determine and amend the Savings Bank’s internal structure; 

determine the types of services and operations it is to provide; delegate the 

powers it deems legitimate; agree upon the investment of funds; agree 

upon the general lines of staff policy; represent the Savings Bank before all 

kinds of authorities and agencies; buy, sell, convey, swap and transfer 

tangible and intangible assets and credits, purchase, sell, pledge and 

exchange securities; exercise whatsoever powers as conferred upon the 

Savings Bank by third parties; appear before all nature of courts and 

tribunals; attend creditors’ meetings with voting and speaking rights; 

replace the aforementioned powers in favor of lawyers or barristers; 

administer tangible and intangible assets as well as rights; attend owners’ 

meetings with voting and speaking rights; contract, amend and rescind all 

kinds of insurances; file and pursue a title of ownership and removal of 

encumbrances; attend shareholders' meetings; arrange, accept, renew, 

cancel or extinguish customer assets, money or share certificates, deposits, 

deposits of share certificates and deposits in safety boxes; buy or sell 

national and foreign currency; grant loans and credits; open documentary 

credits; broker syndicated loans; award guarantees and securities; issue, 

accept, endorse bills of exchange; enter into financial leasing contracts; 

arrange policies; represent the Savings Bank  before the Bank of Spain; 

process the arrangement of loans with the Bank of Spain; undertake 

whatsoever activities as required for trading on Capital, Securities and 

Money Markets, as well as those involving Financial Futures; authorize 

operators, subscribe, purchase, sell and undertake all kinds of standard 

transactions with public debt; undertake whatsoever transactions as 

required for the Savings Bank as a Public Debt Management Agency; 

arrange, amend, renew and withdraw deposits;, regarding both the Savings 

Bank and customers, address, answer and ratify requests; arrange notarial 

deeds; order protests; accept and answer notifications; make payments 

under any item; and, finally, regarding the powers conferred, subscribe 

whatsoever public or private documents as necessary and appear before 

notaries public, commissioners of oaths and public servants.  

  

 Likewise, exercising the powers conferred by the Savings Bank’s General 

Assembly of April 28, 2011, the Board of Directors agreed, on that same 

date, to delegate powers to the Executive Committee, to approve, under the 

terms and conditions they consider appropriate, or delegate the powers 
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they deem necessary, the issuance of any type of securities, fixed income 

or equities, excluding equity units. 

  

 As per a Board agreement of June 21, 2007, in response to the Resolution 

of the Directorate General for Financial Policy and Insurance of the 

Department of Economy and Finance of the Generalitat de Catalunya, 

which permits this option, the Executive Committee was delegated the 

powers to provide loans, guarantees and sureties members to members of 

the Board of Directors, the Control Committee, their spouses, ascendants, 

descendants and collateral relatives down to the second degree, and to 

companies in which these persons hold an ownership interest which, either 

separately or in aggregate, is a majority interest, or in which they hold the 

position of chairman, director, manager, CEO or similar. The Executive 

Committee shall inform the Board of Directors of any transactions agreed 

under this delegation since the previous board meeting. This delegation 

also extends, under the same conditions, to those transactions in which 

these persons transfer to the Savings Bank property or securities of their 

own or issued by the company in which they have a holding or hold office. 

  

 Pursuant to article 19 of the By-laws, by the fact of its constitution, the 

Executive Committee shall be entrusted with the decision-making functions 

regarding all nature of acts of administration, availability, encumbrance and 

ownership, and, for such purposes, it may agree upon: the collection or 

payment of sums; the purchase, sale, swap, encumbrance, conveyance or 

transfer of tangible and intangible assets and rights, for the price it deems 

convenient and according to the terms it considers appropriate, as well as 

the donation and acceptance of the donation of property and expressed 

rights; the arrangement, acceptance, modification and cancellation, in full or 

in part, of mortgages and of other mortgage liens on all nature of property 

and/or rights; the granting and request and acceptance of loans and credits, 

including of signature or consolidation and discounts, as well as the delivery 

and perception of sums forthcoming from the same; the issue, placement 

and/or assurance of placement, takeover bids, amortization and 

cancellation of shares and securities, in general, and of transferable 

securities, in particular, or of securities representing all kinds of financial 

assets; the contracting of those welfare operations for which it is 

authorized, including those foreseen by the law and the regulations on 

pension plans and funds that may legally be undertaken by a Savings 

Bank, as well as the action of the Caixa d’Estalvis i Pensions de Barcelona, 

subject to the same legal restriction, as a promoter of pension plans and as 

a manager or depository of pension funds; the delivery and taking 

possession of whatsoever assets and rights; the undertaking of all nature of 

transactions and, in short, the arrangement of those deeds and public and 

private documents as necessary, with the clauses specific to contracts of 

their nature and of any other it deems convenient for the purposes indicated 

or others of a like nature. 

  

 Likewise, the Executive Committee shall agree upon the exercise of 

administrative, judicial and extrajudicial actions within the remit of the Caixa 

d’Estalvis i Pensions de Barcelona, as well as decide to oppose those 

claims made through whatsoever channel and in any jurisdiction against the 

Savings Bank, before all nature of judges, courts, tribunals, authorities or 
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agencies of whatsoever jurisdictions, degrees and authorities, whether 

Spanish, foreign, European, EU and/or international, and contest rulings at 

any level, even before the Supreme Court, the Constitutional Court, EU 

courts or administrative bodies, those of other States and/or of an 

international nature, decide upon the submission to an authority other than 

the one provided for by procedural law, and agree upon the waiver and 

transaction of actions and rights, the withdrawal from the pursuit of 

proceedings, the acceptance and submission of those matters that may be 

subject to dispute to arbitration in law or in equity; and accept and even 

formulate or take part in the constitution of any other decision-making body 

within the particular sphere of personal savings institutions, other than 

jurisdictional, to whose rulings the Caixa d’Estalvis i Pensions de Barcelona 

may choose to submit. 

  

 As indicated in section A.2.2 of this report, given that the indirect exercise 

of the financial activity was approved at the Annual General Assembly held 

on April 28, 2011, the By-laws specifically state that financial activities 

referred to therein shall be understood to be carried out by the relevant 

vehicle bank. 

  

  

 

 

A.2.24. If an Executive Committee exists, describe the scope of its delegated 

duties and powers and of the independence it enjoys when 

discharging its own duties and adopting resolutions relating to the 

administration and management of the savings bank. 

 

 

 The Executive Committee is wholly autonomous to exercise the delegated 

and statutory powers detailed in the previous section. 

  

 Notwithstanding the above, the Executive Committee must notify the Board 

of Directors of any loans, guarantees and sureties provided since the 

previous Board meeting to members of the Board of Directors, the Control 

Committee, their spouses, ascendants, descendants and collateral relatives 

down to the second degree, and to companies in which these persons hold 

an ownership interest which, either separately or in aggregate, is a majority 

interest, or in which they hold the position of chairman, director, manager, 

CEO or similar. 

  

 The Executive Committee must also report under the same terms to the 

Board of Directors on those transactions in which the people referred to in 

the previous paragraph transfer to the Savings Bank assets or securities 

belonging to or issued by the same entity in which they have an interest or 

hold office. 
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A.2.25. Indicate, as appropriate, whether the composition of the Executive 

Committee reflects the participation within the Board of the different 

Directors based on the member classes they represent. 

 

 

YES X  NO  

 

 

If the answer is no, explain the composition of your Executive Committee. 

 

 

 

A.2.26. Is there an Audit Committee, or have its functions been entrusted to 

the Control Committee?      If a separate Audit Committee exists, list 

its members. 

 

AUDIT COMMITTEE 

 

Name Position 

  

 

 

A.2.27. Describe any support functions that the Audit Committee may carry 

out for the Board of Directors. 

 

 

A.2.28. List the members of the Remuneration Committee. 

 

APPOINTMENTS AND REMUNERATION COMMITTEE 

 

Name Position 

FAINÉ CASAS, ISIDRO CHAIRMAN 
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GABARRÓ SERRA, SALVADOR MEMBER 

GODÓ MUNTAÑOLA, JAVIER MEMBER 

 

 

A.2.29. Describe the support functions that the Remuneration Committee 

carries out for the Board of Directors. 

 

 

 Pursuant to the provisions of Legislative Decree 1/2008, according to the 

draft of the text provided by Decree Law 5/2010, the Remuneration 

Committee has been renamed the Appointments and Remuneration 

Committee, and has the following functions: 

  

 -Report on the general remuneration and bonus policy for the members of 

the Board of Directors, the Control Committee and Senior Management, as 

well as ensuring the observance of said policy. 

 -Ensure that all members of the Board of Directors and the Control 

Committee, and the Chief Executive Officer comply with the requirements 

inherent in their office. 

 -Receive notifications regarding any conflicts of interest that directly or 

indirectly affect the interests of the Savings Bank or its corporate purpose, 

which the members of the governing bodies are required to submit. 

  

  

  

  

  

  

 

 

A.2.30. List the members of the Investment Committee. 

 

INVESTMENT COMMITTEE 

 

Name Position 

FAINÉ CASAS, ISIDRO CHAIRMAN 
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LLOBET MARIA, DOLORS MEMBER 

RODÉS CASTAÑÉ, LEOPOLDO MEMBER 

 

 

A.2.31. Describe the support functions that the Investment Committee carries 

out for the Board of Directors. 

 

 

 Pursuant to the provisions of Decree 164/2008 of the Generalitat de 

Catalunya, article 17.5.1 of the By-laws stipulates that the Investment 

Committee is responsible for informing the Board of Directors and the 

Executive Committee of all strategic and stable investments and 

divestments that, in accordance with current legislation carried out either 

directly by “la Caixa” or by any of its subsidiaries.  It shall also report on the 

financial viability of these investments and how they fit in with the budgets 

and strategic plans of "la Caixa". Likewise, it shall issue an annual report on 

investments of this sort made during the financial year. 

  

 Pursuant to Decree 164/2008 of the Generalitat de Catalunya, an 

investment or divestment is understood to be strategic when it involves the 

acquisition or sale of a significant stake in a listed company or relates to 

business projects where the Company is involved in the management or 

governing bodies, provided the investment for the Savings Bank accounts 

for more than 3% of its eligible capital. Otherwise, it is understood that the 

investments or divestments are not of a strategic nature for the Savings 

Bank.  When the Savings Bank has exceeded this 3% threshold, the Board 

of Directors may undertake any investments or divestments which fall within 

the fluctuation range determined by the Committee without the need for 

submitting these to the Committee.  

  

 In accordance with this rule, at a meeting held on October 25, 2004 the 

Investment Committee, under the auspices of the provisions of repealed 

Decree 190/1989, agreed to set the fluctuation range at 1% of the Savings 

Bank’s eligible equity. Accordingly, the Committee is not required to report 

on those investments or divestments which, having been reported 

beforehand by the Committee (or in the case of investments prior to the 

existence of the Committee that would have required reporting), do not 

exceed 1% of the Savings Bank’s eligible equity, calculated on the date 

they are effected, and on the amount of the investment at the time it was 

reported or, if this was not the case, on the amount of the investment at 

September 30, 2004. 
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A.2.32. Specify whether there are any regulations governing Board 

committees. Include details of where these can be consulted, and 

describe any amendments made during the year.   Also indicate 

whether an annual report on the activities of each committee has been 

prepared voluntarily. 

 

 

A.2.33. Are there specific bodies vested with the power to make decisions 

regarding the acquisition of business holdings?   If so, please specify. 

 

YES   NO X 

 

 

 

Body or bodies vested with the power to make 

decisions regarding the acquisition of business 

holdings 

Remarks 

  

 

 

A.2.34. Where applicable, indicate the procedural or reporting requirements 

established in order to adopt resolutions involving the acquisition of 

business holdings. 

 

 

 There are no procedural or reporting requirements for when “la Caixa” 

acquires a direct business holding, except for when a report is required 

from the Investment Committee as stipulated above. 

  

 In the event that the investment in a holding is made through CaixaBank, 

S.A., the internal protocol governing the relationship between that company 

and “la Caixa”, signed on July 1, 2011, establishes a series of rules when 

the investment is of a strategic nature.  In such cases, the executive bodies 

of CaixaBank, S.A. shall inform the Investment Committee at “la Caixa” of 

the possible investment so that, based on a prior report, the Board of 

Directors or the Executive Committee of “la Caixa” may assess the same to 

decide whether it may or may not have a negative impact on its solvency or 

risk level and whether it is in conflict to the strategic plans or budgets of “la 

Caixa”. Once a decision has been reached, it shall be reported to the 

governing bodies of CaixaBank, S.A. so that the Board of Directors may be 

informed. 
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 In the event that the Board of Directors or the Executive Committee of “la 

Caixa” considers that a specific investment may compromise the Savings 

Bank’s solvency or level of risk, whereby it adjudges it inadvisable from the 

perspective of either the Group’s or the parent company’s policy, or that it 

may or may not have a negative impact on its solvency or risk level, it shall 

draw up an explanatory report detailing the reasons and, specifying any 

possible measures that might eliminate the negative impacts. This report 

shall be submitted to the CaixaBank's Audit and Control Committee, which, 

in turn, shall draw up a report on the situation and its opinion, which it shall 

submit to its Board of Directors. That body shall review the content of the 

report prepared by "la Caixa"'s Board of Directors (or its Executive 

Committee), bearing in mind that CaixaBank is the vehicle for indirectly 

carrying out "la Caixa"'s financial activity, in accordance with article 5 of 

Royal Decree-Law 11/2010 of July 9 and article 3.4 of the Consolidated 

Text of the Catalan Savings Banks Law of March 11, 2008. 

  

 The internal protocol governing the relationship between “la Caixa” and 

CaixaBank is available on the websites of CNMV, the Spanish securities 

market regulator (www.cnmv.es), and CaixaBank, S.A 

(www.caixabank.com). 

 

 

A.2.35. Indicate the number of meetings held by the following governing 

bodies over the year. 

 

 

Number of Remuneration Committee meetings  

Number of Investment Committee meetings  

Number of Executive Committee meetings  

 

 

A.2.36. Indicate any other delegate or support bodies created by the savings 

bank. 

 

WELFARE PROJECTS COMMITTEE 

 

Name Position 

FAINÉ CASAS, ISIDRO CHAIRMAN 

GABARRÓ SERRA, SALVADOR MEMBER 

GODÓ MUNTAÑOLA, JAVIER MEMBER 

CABRA MARTORELL, MONTSERRAT MEMBER 
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HOMS FERRET, FRANCESC MEMBER 

IBARZ ALEGRÍA, XAVIER MEMBER 

LÓPEZ BURNIOL, JUAN-JOSÉ MEMBER 

LÓPEZ MARTÍNEZ, MARIO MEMBER 

NOVELLA MARTÍNEZ, JUSTO BIENVENIDO MEMBER 

 

 

Explain the rules governing the system of electing, appointing, accepting and 

removing members of each of these bodies and describe the functions thereof. 

 

 Pursuant to article 18 of the By-laws, the Welfare Projects Committee comprises the 

Chairman of the Board of Directors, who shall preside over it, and eight persons chosen 

by the Board of Directors, from amongst its members and in proportion to the stakeholder 

groups.  In addition, the Savings Bank’s CEO shall attend the meeting with voting and 

speaking rights. 

  

 Members may sit on the Welfare Projects Committee whilst they hold office on the 

Board of Directors and are not removed from the Committee by the Board itself. 

Vacancies shall be filled within three months. 

  

 The Welfare Projects Committee is charged with submitting to the Board of Directors, 

for its approval, as appropriate, all new projects of this nature seeking the support of “la 

Caixa”, the budgets for existing projects, details on their management and administration 

in accordance with the criteria of financial rationality and the utmost service for the 

general interests of the communities where they are carried out. 

  

  

  

 

A.3. Control Committee 

 

A.3.1. Complete the following table on the Control Committee members. 
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CONTROL COMMITTEE 

 

Name Position Represented member class 

CASTELLVÍ PIULACHS, JOSEFINA CHAIRMAN FOUNDING AND 

COMMUNITY-INTEREST 

INSTITUTIONS  

PUJOL ESTEVE, MARIA ROSA SECRETARY DEPOSITORS 

ARTAL MORILLO, JAVIER MEMBER FOUNDING AND 

COMMUNITY-INTEREST 

INSTITUTIONS  

BARQUERO CABRERO, JOSÉ 

DANIEL 

MEMBER DEPOSITORS 

FRIAS MOLINA, JOSEP ANTONI MEMBER LOCAL AUTHORITIES 

FULLANA MASSANET, JOSEP MEMBER DEPOSITORS 

QUIJANO ROY, ENRIQUE MEMBER DEPOSITORS 

MAGRIÑÀ POBLET, JOSEP MEMBER EMPLOYEES 

VIVES CORONA, MIGUEL MEMBER LOCAL AUTHORITIES 

 

 

Number of members 9 

 

 

Member class Number of 

Committee 

representatives 

% of total 

LOCAL AUTHORITIES 2 22.222 

DEPOSITORS 4 44.444 

FOUNDING INSTITUTIONS OR 

INDIVIDUALS 

0 0.000 

EMPLOYEES 1 11.111 

FOUNDING AND COMMUNITY-

INTEREST INSTITUTIONS  

2 22.222 

Total 9 100.000 

 

 

A.3.2. Does the Control Committee perform the duties of the Audit 

Committee? 
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YES X  NO  

 

List the functions of the Control Committee. 

 

Functions 

Pursuant to article 21 of Law 31/1985 regulating the basic rules on governing bodies of Savings Banks, the control 

committee shall ensure that the Board of Directors performs its management functions as effectively and precisely as 

possible, within the general guidelines laid down by the General Assembly and in full compliance with financial 

regulations. 

 

Consistent with these regulations, article 25 of the By-laws stipulates that the functions of the Control Committee are 

as follows: to supervise the management of the Board of Directors, ensuring that its resolutions are consistent with the 

guidelines and resolutions of the General Assembly and with the Savings Bank’s corporate purpose; to oversee the 

activities and business pursued by the Savings Bank’s auditing bodies; to receive the independent auditor’s report and 

the recommendations made by the auditors; to review the balance sheet and the income statement for each business 

year and formulate the observations it deems appropriate; to submit to the General Assembly information regarding its 

activities at least once a year; to call upon the Chairman to convene the General Assembly, on an extraordinary basis, 

whenever it deems so convenient; to control the electoral processes for the composition of the Assembly and Board of 

Directors, together with the Department of Economy and Finance of the Generalitat de Catalunya; to control, as the 

outgoing Control Committee, the electoral process for the new Control Committee; to receive the reports made by the 

Welfare Projects Committee; to issue its opinion and propose to the Department of Economy and Finance the 

suspension of the resolutions of the Board of Directors in the event that they are in breach of current legislation or any 

other vested in it by the General Assembly within the guidelines set forth by the aforementioned functions. 

 

 

Likewise, the By-laws attribute to the Control Committee those functions specific to the Audit Committee.  Accordingly, 

pursuant to the text of Additional Provision 18 of Law 24/1988 of July 28, the Securities Market Law, as regards the 

draft given by Law 12/2010 of June 30, the Control Committee shall  report at the General Assembly on matters 

arising in the area of its competence; propose to the Board of Directors, for submission to the General Assembly, the 

appointment of the external auditors; supervise the efficiency of the Savings Bank’s internal control, internal auditing 

and risk management systems, as well as discuss with the auditors any significant weaknesses in the internal control 

system detected during the auditing process; supervise the process of drafting and submitting regulated financial 

information; liaise with the independent auditors to receive information on those issues that may jeopardize their 

independence, those related to the auditing process and those other notifications provided for in current legislation.  In 

any event, on an annual basis the Committee must receive from the auditors written confirmation of their 

independence as well as information on the additional services of whatsoever nature rendered to "Caixa d'Estalvis i 

Pensions de Barcelona" or entities related to it directly or indirectly. Finally, it shall issue an annual report, prior to the 

issue of the audit report, containing an opinion on the independence of the auditors. 

 

At the Extraordinary General Assembly held on November 29, 2010, the By-laws were modified to adapt the functions 

of the Control Committee to the wording provided by Law 12/2010. 

 

In addition to the above functions, and in accordance with current legislation, the Control Committee submits a half-

yearly report to the Bank of Spain analyzing the Savings Bank’s financial and economic management, and with the 

same frequency, a report on its activities to the Department of Economy and Knowledge of the Generalitat de 

Catalunya. 

 

The Control Committee is entrusted with monitoring and supervising compliance with the terms of the internal protocol 

governing the relationship between "la Caixa" and CaixaBank, S.A., as set out in the protocol itself. 
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A.3.3. Describe the rules governing the organisation and functioning of the 

Control Committee and the duties assigned to it. 

 

 

 Article 24 of the By-laws stipulates that the Control Committee shall be 

comprised of nine members elected by the General Assembly from among 

its members who are not members of the Board of Directors. Of these nine 

members, four shall belong to the depositors group, another two to the 

founding and community-interest institutions group, two to the local 

authorities group and one to the employees group. 

  

 No entity or local authority may simultaneously have representatives on the 

Board of Directors and on the Control Committee. Public or private entities 

and local authorities represented on the Board of Directors or Control 

Committee of another Savings Bank may not have the same 

representatives on the Control Committee of “la Caixa”. 

  

 For their part, committee representatives must meet the same 

requirements, have the same incompatibilities and limitations as members 

of the Board of Directors, and have the specific knowledge and experience 

needed to carry out their duties. The appointment of members and the first 

and subsequent partial renewals shall be made simultaneously and in 

accordance with the provisions for members of the Board of Directors. 

  

 The Control Committee shall elect a Chairman and a Secretary from among 

its members. In the event of the absence of the Chairman or of the 

Secretary for any reason, they shall be replaced by the oldest and youngest 

delegates, respectively, attending the meeting. 

  

  

 Pursuant to the powers of the Control Committee specified above, it should 

be noted that its foremost duty lies in overseeing the appropriateness of the 

actions of the Board of Directors, supervising its resolutions and analyzing 

their consistency with the guidelines and general lines laid down by the 

General Assembly, with the Savings Bank’s corporate purpose and with 

current legislation. 

  

 Notwithstanding the above, the Control Committee shall oversee the 

timeliness of the electoral processes for the Savings Bank’s governing 

bodies and assume the functions of an audit committee. 
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A.3.4. Explain the system in place, if any, to ensure that the Control 

Committee is aware of the resolutions adopted by the different 

governing bodies, so that it can perform its duties of oversight and 

veto. 

 

 

 The By-laws stipulate three ways for informing the members of the Control 

Committee of the resolutions adopted by other governing bodies.   

  

 Firstly, article 16.2.7 stipulates that the Board of Directors shall make 

available to the Control Committee the necessary information and 

background details for the fulfillment of its functions.  Without prejudice to 

this obligation, the Committee itself may request the Board of Directors and 

the CEO to provide the information and background details it deems 

necessary.  Accordingly, it should be noted that the members of the Control 

Committee have at their disposal, for their consultation and examination, 

the minutes of the meetings held by the governing bodies. 

  

 Secondly, pursuant to article 17.4 of the By-laws, the resolutions adopted 

by the Board of Directors or its Committees shall be reported to the 

Chairman of the Control Committee.  This shall be effected through the 

delivery of the aforementioned minutes, in a timely manner, so that said 

Chairman may, within a period of seven days subsequent to each meeting, 

and if deemed convenient, convene the Control Committee if so required to 

call upon the Department of Economy and Finance of the Generalitat de 

Catalunya to suspend one or more resolutions. 

  

 Thirdly, and lastly, the Control Committee may request the presence at its 

meetings of the CEO.  It should be noted that it is standard practice at “la 

Caixa” for the CEO to attend Committee meetings to discuss the Savings 

Bank’s position and explain the content of the resolutions reached by its 

governing bodies. 

  

  

 

 

A.3.5. Indicate the number of Control Committee meetings held during the 

year. 
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Number of meetings 11 

 

 

A.3.6. Identify the information provided to committee members ahead of or 

at Control Committee meetings. Describe the systems in place for 

accessing this information. 

 

 

 Members of the Control Committee have at their disposal, for their 

consultation and examination, the minutes of the meetings held by the 

governing bodies. 

  

  

 

 

 This information is available at the Savings Bank’s General Secretariat for 

consultation by all Committee members.  Notwithstanding this, the annual 

financial statements, the annual corporate governance report and any other 

documents of special complexity or length are delivered to all members at 

least forty-eight hours in advance. 

 

 

A.3.7. Explain the rules governing the system of electing, appointing, 

accepting and removing Control Committee members. 

 

 

 The Control Committee shall be comprised of nine members elected by the 

General Assembly from among its members who are not members of the 

Board of Directors. Of these nine members, four shall belong to the 

depositors group, another two to the founding and community-interest 

institutions group, two to the local authorities group and one to the 

employees group. At least two substitute directors for each stakeholder 

group must be appointed.  They shall have the sole purpose of replacing 

the full members in the case of dismissal or removal before the end of their 

term of office and for the remaining time. Committee members must meet 

the same requirements and have the same incompatibilities and limitations 

as members of the Board of Directors.   
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 The appointment of members and the first and subsequent renewals shall 

be made simultaneously and in accordance with the provisions for 

members of the Board of Directors. 

 

 

 The rules on the acceptance of office on the Control Committee are the 

same as those laid down for the Board of Directors. 

 

 

 The members of the Control Committee may be dismissed under the same 

circumstances as those contemplated for members of the Board of 

Directors. 

 

 

A.3.8. Provide details of the internal systems in place to ensure compliance 

with the resolutions adopted by the Control Committee. 

 

 

 Pursuant to the provisions of article 21.4 of the By-laws, the Savings Bank’s 

CEO shall ensure that all resolutions of the governing bodies are complied 

with. 

 

 

A.3.9. Explain the rules governing the convening of Control Committee 

meetings. 

 

 

 The Control Committee shall meet whenever it is convened by its Chairman 

either on his own instigation or at the request of one-third of its members 

and shall meet at least once a quarter.  In addition, the CEO may call an 

urgent meeting when, in his/her opinion, it is justified by whatsoever 

contingency under which the By-laws acknowledge the Committee’s 

mandate. 

  

 The meeting is to be called at least forty-eight hours in advance, in writing 

and indicating the purpose of the meeting.  Nevertheless, in those 

exceptional cases in which the urgency of the matters to be addressed so 

requires, in the opinion of the Committee’s Chairman, the meeting may be 

called just twelve hours in advance. 
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 Nonetheless, the Committee meeting shall be considered called and validly 

convened, on a universal basis, to address any matter within its mandate, 

provided that it is attended by all its members and that those in attendance 

unanimously agree to hold it. 

  

  

 

 

A.3.10. Indicate the circumstances in which committee members may ask for 

the Control Committee to be convened to address any business they 

consider appropriate. 

 

 

 The Committee shall be convened by its Chairman, when, amongst other 

circumstances, so requested by one-third of its members.  This is a general 

rule and the By-laws do not restrict it to specific cases. 

 

 

A.3.11. Explain the rules governing the adoption of resolutions by the Control 

Committee, at least indicating the rules relating to the constitution of 

meetings and attendance quorums. 

 

Adopting resolutions 

 

Description of resolution Quorum Type of majority 

RESOLUTIONS REQUESTING A MEETING 

OF THE GENERAL ASSEMBLY 

51.00 - THE VALID 

CONSTITUTION 

REQUIRES THE 

PRESENCE OF THE 

MAJORITY OF FULL 

MEMBERS 

51.00 THE VOTE IN FAVOR 

IS REQUIRED OF THE 

MAJORITY OF FULL 

MEMBERS 

ALL OTHER RESOLUTIONS  51.00 - THE 

ATTENDANCE IS 

REQUIRED OF THE 

MAJORITY OF FULL 

MEMBERS 

51.00 - THE VOTE IN 

FAVOR IS REQUIRED OF 

THE MAJORITY THOSE 

PRESENT, WITH THE 

CHAIRMAN HAVING A 

CASTING VOTE IN THE 

EVENT OF A TIE. 

 

 

B    LENDING, COLLATERAL OR GUARANTEE TRANSACTIONS  
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B.1. Provide details of any lending, collateral or guarantee transactions 

carried out with the savings bank directly or indirectly, or through its 

foundations or affiliated or investee entities, in favour of Directors or 

their first-degree family members, or with companies or entities that 

they control, as defined under Article 4 of the Spanish Securities 

Market Act 1988 (Ley 24/1988). Indicate the applicable terms and 

conditions, including the financial conditions. 

 

 

Name of the 

Director 

Corporate name of 

the savings bank, 

foundation or 

affiliated or investee 

entity 

Nature of the 

relationship 

Amount (in 

thousands €) 

Terms and 

conditions 

BARBER WILLEMS, 

VICTÒRIA 

CAIXABANK, S.A. GUARANTEE (TO 

FAMILY MEMBER) 

26 GUARANTEE  

COMM. 0.50 

BARBER WILLEMS, 

VICTÒRIA 

CAIXABANK, S.A. CREDIT CARD (TO 

FAMILY MEMBER) 

6  

BARBER WILLEMS, 

VICTÒRIA 

CAIXABANK, S.A. CREDIT CARD (TO 

FAMILY MEMBER) 

3  

BARBER WILLEMS, 

VICTÒRIA 

CAIXABANK, S.A. GUARANTEE 26 GUARANTEE  

COMM. 0.50 

FAINÉ CASAS, 

ISIDRO 

CAIXABANK, S.A. CREDIT CARD 9  

GABARRÓ SERRA, 

SALVADOR 

CAIXABANK, S.A. CREDIT CARD (TO 

FAMILY MEMBER) 

2  

GODÓ 

MUNTAÑOLA, 

JAVIER 

CAIXABANK, S.A. CREDIT ACCOUNT 2.400 12-MONTH PERIOD 

/EURIBOR + 0.50 

GODÓ 

MUNTAÑOLA, 

JAVIER 

CAIXABANK, S.A. LINE OF 

GUARANTEES (TO 

COMPANY) 

1.000 1-MONTH PERIOD/ 

COMMERCIAL 

GUARANTEE RISK 

COMM. 2/ 

FINANCIAL 

GUARANTEE RISK 

COMM. 2/ 

TECHNICAL 

GUARANTEE 0.75 

GODÓ 

MUNTAÑOLA, 

JAVIER 

CAIXABANK, S.A. CREDIT ACCOUNT 

(TO COMPANY) 

1.000 12-MONTH 

PERIOD/EURIBOR+

2.75/ARRANGEMEN

T COMM. 0.2 

RENEWAL COMM. 

0.50/ NO FUNDS 

COMM. 0.40 

GODÓ 

MUNTAÑOLA, 

JAVIER 

CAIXABANK, S.A. CREDIT CARD (TO 

COMPANY) 

6  

GODÓ 

MUNTAÑOLA, 

JAVIER 

CAIXABANK, S.A. CREDIT CARD (TO 

COMPANY) 

3  
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GODÓ 

MUNTAÑOLA, 

JAVIER 

CAIXABANK, S.A. CREDIT CARD (TO 

FAMILY MEMBER) 

20  

LÓPEZ BURNIOL, 

JUAN-JOSÉ 

CAIXABANK, S.A. OVERDRAFT LIMIT 40 1.5-MONTH PERIOD 

LÓPEZ BURNIOL, 

JUAN-JOSÉ 

CAIXABANK, S.A. CREDIT CARD (TO 

FAMILY MEMBER) 

1  

LÓPEZ BURNIOL, 

JUAN-JOSÉ 

CAIXABANK, S.A. CREDIT CARD (TO 

FAMILY MEMBER) 

1  

LLOBET MARIA, 

DOLORS 

CAIXABANK, S.A. CREDIT CARD (TO 

FAMILY MEMBER) 

1  

RODÉS CASTAÑÉ, 

LEOPOLDO 

CAIXABANK, S.A. LOAN (TO FAMILY 

MEMBER) 

2.000 36-MONTH PERIOD 

/EURIBOR + 3 

SIMÓN CARRERAS, 

JOSEP JOAN 

CAIXABANK, S.A. CREDIT CARD (TO 

FAMILY MEMBER) 

2  

 

 

B.2. Provide details of any lending, collateral or guarantee transactions 

carried out with the savings bank directly or indirectly, or through its 

foundations or affiliated or investee entities, in favour of Control 

Committee members or their first-degree family members, or with 

companies or entities that they control, as defined under Article 4 of 

Spanish Securities Market Act 1988. Indicate the applicable terms and 

conditions, including the financial conditions. 

 

 

Name of Committee 

member 

Corporate name of 

the savings bank, 

foundation or 

affiliated or investee 

entity 

Nature of the 

relationship 

Amount (in 

thousands €) 

Terms and 

conditions 

ARTAL MORILLO, 

XAVIER 

CAIXABANK, S.A. CREDIT ACCOUNT 

(TO COMPANY) 

150 12-MONTH 

PERIOD/EURIBOR+

3.50/ARRANGEMEN

T COMM. 0.25 

RENEWAL FEE 0.25/ 

NO FUNDS FEE 2 

ARTAL MORILLO, 

XAVIER 

CAIXABANK, S.A. LOAN (TO 

COMPANY) 

20 48-MONTH PERIOD 

/EURIBOR + 5 

CASTELLVÍ 

PIULACHS, 

JOSEFINA 

CAIXABANK, S.A. LOAN 10 30-MONTH 

PERIOD/INTEREST 

RATE 

5/ARRANGEMENT 

COMM. 2/ STUDY 

COMM. 0.50/ 

AMORTIZACIÓN 1 
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FULLANA 

MASSANET, JOSEP 

CAIXABANK, S.A. CREDIT ACCOUNT 

(TO COMPANY) 

45 11-MONTH 

PERIOD/INTEREST 

RATE 

7%/ARRANGEMENT 

COMM. 1.5/STUDY 

COMM. 0.5/NO 

FUNDS COMM. 2 

FULLANA 

MASSANET, JOSEP 

CAIXABANK, S.A. COMMERCIAL RISK 

LINE (TO 

COMPANY) 

60 8-MONTH 

PERIOD/INTEREST 

RATE 7 

FULLANA 

MASSANET, JOSEP 

CAIXABANK, S.A. LOAN (TO FAMILY 

MEMBER) 

170 300-MONTH 

PERIOD/EURIBOR+

2.25/ARRANGEMEN

T COMM. 0.5 EARLY 

REPAYMENT 

COMM. 

1/MORTGAGE 

COLLATERAL 

PUJOL ESTEVE, 

MARIA ROSA 

CAIXABANK, S.A. LOAN-

AGROSEGURO 

22 9-MONTH PERIOD/ 

STUDY COMM. 0.02 

PUJOL ESTEVE, 

MARIA ROSA 

CAIXARENTING, 

S.A.U. 

FINANCIAL 

LEASING 

2 48-MONTH 

PERIOD/INTEREST 

RATE 7.42 

QUIJANO ROY, 

ENRIQUE 

FINCONSUM, 

ESTABLECIMIENTO 

FINANCIERO DE 

CRÉDITO, S.A. 

COMMERCE CARD 2  

 

 

B.3. Provide details of any lending, collateral or guarantee transactions 

carried out with the savings bank either directly, indirectly or through 

its foundations, or affiliated or investee entities, in favour of political 

groups represented on local authorities and regional legislative 

assemblies that have been involved in the savings bank's electoral 

process. 

 

 

Name of political 

group 

Corporate name of 

the savings bank, 

foundation or 

affiliated or investee 

entity 

Nature of the 

relationship 

Amount (in 

thousands €) 

Terms and 

conditions 

CONVERGÈNCIA 

DEMOCRÀTICA DE 

CATALUNYA 

CAIXABANK, S.A. CREDIT ACCOUNT 1,800 12-MONTH 

PERIOD/EURIBOR+

3/RENEWAL COMM. 

0.50/ NO FUNDS 

COMM. 1 

CONVERGÈNCIA 

DEMOCRÀTICA DE 

CATALUNYA 

CAIXARENTING, 

S.A.U. 

FINANCIAL 

LEASING 

41 48-MONTH 

PERIOD/INTEREST 

RATE 6.40 
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ESQUERRA 

REPUBLICANA DE 

CATALUNYA 

CAIXABANK, S.A. CREDIT ACCOUNT 350 8-MONTH 

PERIOD/EURIBOR+

3.50/ARRANGEMEN

T COMM. 0.50 

FEDERACIÓ 

CONVERGÈNCIA I 

UNIÓ 

CAIXABANK, S.A. GUARANTEE 105 ARRANGEMENT 

COMM. 0.50/ 

GUARANTEE 

COMM. 1.50 

FEDERACIÓ 

CONVERGÈNCIA I 

UNIÓ 

CAIXABANK, S.A. GUARANTEE 164 ARRANGEMENT 

COMM. 0.50/ 

GUARANTEE 

COMM. 1.50 

FEDERACIÓ 

CONVERGÈNCIA I 

UNIÓ 

CAIXABANK, S.A. CREDIT ACCOUNT 1,500 8-MONTH 

PERIOD/EURIBOR+

3.50/ARRANGEMEN

T COMM. 0.50 

FEDERACIÓ 

CONVERGÈNCIA I 

UNIÓ 

CAIXABANK, S.A. LOAN 2,700 39-MONTH 

PERIOD/EURIBOR+

3.50/ARRANGEMEN

T COMM. 0.50 

FEDERACIÓ 

CONVERGÈNCIA I 

UNIÓ 

CAIXABANK, S.A. LOAN 2,300 26-MONTH 

PERIOD/EURIBOR+

3/ARRANGEMENT 

COMM. 0.50 

GRUP MUNICIPAL 

DE 

CONVERGÈNCIA I 

UNIÓ EN MATARÓ 

CAIXABANK, S.A. CREDIT CARD 3  

GRUPO MUNICIPAL 

SOCIALISTA DE 

CAMAS 

CAIXABANK, S.A. OVERDRAFT LIMIT 1 1-MONTH PERIOD 

GRUPO POLÍTICO 

ESPACIO PLURAL 

CAIXABANK, S.A. OVERDRAFT LIMIT 1 8-DAY PERIOD 

INICITIVA PER 

CATALUNYA VERDS 

ESQUERRA UNIDA I 

ALTERNATIVA 

CAIXABANK, S.A. CREDIT ACCOUNT 1,000 8-MONTH 

PERIOD/EURIBOR+

3.50/ARRANGEMEN

T COMM. 0.50 

INICIATIVA PER 

CATALUNYA VERDS 

CAIXABANK, S.A. CREDIT ACCOUNT 1,800 12-MONTH 

PERIOD/EURIBOR+

3.50/ARRANGEMEN

T COMM. 

0.50/STUDY COMM. 

0.50/NO FUNDS 

COMM. 2 

ICV-ESQUERRA 

UNIDA I 

ALTERNATIVA 

CAIXABANK, S.A. CREDIT ACCOUNT 124 9-MONTH 

PERIOD/EURIBOR+

2/NO FUNDS 

COMM. 0.50 

IZQUIERDA UNIDA 

CONVOCATORIA 

POR ANDALUCÍA 

CAIXABANK, S.A. GUARANTEE 148 ARRANGEMENT 

COMM. 0.50/STUDY 

COMM. 

0.75/GUARANTEE 

RISK COMM. 3 
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PARTIT DELS 

SOCIALISTES DE 

CATALUNYA 

CAIXABANK, S.A. CREDIT ACCOUNT 750 12-MONTH 

PERIOD/EURIBOR+

2.50/RENEWAL 

COMM. COMM. 0.50/ 

NO FUNDS COMM. 

2 

PARTIT DELS 

SOCIALISTES DE 

CATALUNYA 

CAIXABANK, S.A. LOAN 155 180-MONTH 

PERIOD/EURIBOR+

2.50/ARRANGEMEN

T COMM. 

0.50/MORTGAGE 

COLLATERAL 

PARTIDO 

SOCIALISTA 

OBRERO ESPAÑOL 

CAIXABANK, S.A. SYNDICATED LOAN 4,250 96-MONTH 

PERIOD/EURIBOR+

5.50/STUDY COMM. 

1.50 

 

 

B.4. Indicate, where applicable, the current status of loans extended to 

political groups represented on local authorities and regional 

legislative assemblies that have participated in the savings bank's 

electoral process. 

 

 

 Below are details of credits existing at December 31, 2012 (in thousand €): 

  

 CONVERGÈNCIA DEMOCRÀTICA DE CATALUNYA: 

  

 Amount drawn down: 2,447 

 Amount available: 468 

  

 ESQUERRA REPUBLICANA DE CATALUNYA: 

  

 Amount drawn down: 480 

 Amount available: 187 

  

 ESQUERRA UNIDA I ALTERNATIVA: 

  

 Amount drawn down: 166 

 Amount available: 8 

 Defaulted: 32 
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 FEDERACIÓ CONVERGÈNCIA I UNIÓ: 

  

 Amount drawn down: 12,210 

 Amount available: 2,227 

  

 GRUP MUNICIPAL DE CONVERGÈNCIA I UNIÓ EL PRAT DE 

LLOBREGAT: 

  

 Amount available: 1 

  

 GRUP MUNICIPAL DE CONVERGÈNCIA I UNIÓ EN MATARÓ: 

  

 Amount available: 3 

  

 CONVERGÈNCIA PER LES ILLES: 

  

 Amount available: 1 

  

 GRUP MUNICIPAL PARTIT POPULAR SANT CUGAT DEL VALLÈS: 

  

 Amount drawn down: 3 

  

 GRUP PARLAMENTARI CONVERGÈNCIA I UNIÓ: 

  

 Amount available: 1 

  

 GRUPO POLÍTICO MUNICIPAL PARTIDO SOCIALISTA GALEGO: 

  

 Amount available: 1 

  

 GRUPO POPULAR DIPUTACIÓN PROVINCIAL DE SEVILLA: 
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 Amount drawn down: 229 

  

 GRUPO POPULAR JUNTAS GENERALES DE ÁLAVA: 

  

 Amount drawn down: 2 

 Amount available: 6 

  

 GRUPO MUNICIPAL IZQUIERDA UNIDA AYUNTAMIENTO DE TOLEDO: 

  

 Amount available: 1 

  

 INICIATIVA PER CATALUNYA VERDS: 

  

 Amount drawn down: 12,059 

 Amount available: 181 

  

 INICIATIVA PER CATALUNYA VERDS, ESQUERRA UNIDA I 

ALTERNATIVA  ENTESA: 

  

 Amount drawn down: 124 

  

 INICIATIVA PER CATALUNYA VERDS, ESQUERRA UNIDA I 

ALTERNATIVA. ESQUERRA PLURAL: 

  

 Amount drawn down: 416 

 Amount available: 584 

  

 INICIATIVA PER CATALUNYA VERDS ESQUERRA ALTERNATIVA I 

ENTESA PEL PROGRÈS MUNICIPAL  

  

 Amount available: 1 
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 IZQUIERDA UNIDA: 

  

 Amount drawn down: 2,259 

 Amount available: 1 

 Defaulted: 2 

  

 IZQUIERDA UNIDA EZKERBATUA: 

  

 Amount drawn down: 1 

  

 IZQUIERDA UNIDA DE NAVARRA-NAFARROAKO EZKER BATUA: 

  

 Amount drawn down: 239 

 Amount available: 5 

  

 IZQUIERDA UNIDA CONVOCATORIA ANDALUCÍA: 

  

 Amount drawn down: 1,019 

 Amount available: 3 

  

 PARTIDO ANDALUCISTA: 

  

 Amount drawn down: 1,333 

 Defaulted: 1,333 

  

 PARTIDO POPULAR: 

  

 Amount drawn down: 2,074 

 Amount available: 3 

  

 PARTIDO SOCIALISTA OBRERO ESPAÑOL: 
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 Amount drawn down: 10,318 

 Amount available: 30 

 Defaulted: 20 

  

 PSOE - PACTO POR IBIZA: 

  

 Amount drawn down: 68 

  Defaulted: 68 

  

 PARTIT DEL SOCIALISTES DE CATALUNYA (PSC-PSOE): 

  

 Amount drawn down: 7,381 

 Amount available: 11 

  

 PARTIT SOCIALISTA UNIFICAT DE CATALUNYA (VIU): 

  

 Amount available: 4 

  

 PLATAFORMA VIGATANA: 

  

 Amount available: 3 

  

 PROGRÉS MUNICIPAL (PSC): 

  

 Amount available: 2 

  

 UNIÓ DEMOCRÀTICA DE CATALUNYA: 

  

 Amount drawn down: 6,841 

 Amount available: 3 
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 The above list does not include operating overdrafts of insignificant 

amounts (less than €1,000), nor those sums available or withdrawn of less 

than that amount. 

  

  

  

  

  

 

 

C    Provide details of any loans to public institutions, including local and regional 

government bodies, that have appointed general assembly members. 
 

 

 

Name of public institution: INSTITUT D'ESTUDIS CATALANS 

 

Nature of the relationship Amount (in 

thousands €) 

CREDIT ACCOUNT 1,000 

 

 

Name of the appointed General Assembly members 

ARGENTER GIRALT, JOAN ALBERT 

 

 

 

 

Name of public institution: UNIVERSITAT DE BARCELONA 

 

Nature of the relationship Amount (in 

thousands €) 

CREDIT CARD 2 
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Name of the appointed General Assembly members 

AGUILAR VILA, ALEJANDRO 

 

 

 

 

Name of public institution: UNIVERSITAT POLITÈCNICA DE CATALUNYA 

 

Nature of the relationship Amount (in 

thousands €) 

CREDIT CARDS 13 

CREDIT ACCOUNT 10,000 

 

 

Name of the appointed General Assembly members 

BARON PLADEVALL, ANTONI 

 

 

 

 

Name of public institution: CAMARA DE COMERCIO INDUSTRIA Y 

NAVEGACIÓN 

 

Nature of the relationship Amount (in 

thousands €) 

CREDIT ACCOUNT 1,500 

CREDIT CARDS 36 

 

 

Name of the appointed General Assembly members 

BASSONS BONCOMPTE, MARIA TERESA 

LACALLE COLL, ENRIC 

MASIÀ MARTÍ, RAMON 
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OLLÉ BARTOLOMÉ, ALBERT 

 

 

 

 

 

D    RELATED PARTY AND INTRAGROUP TRANSACTIONS 

 

 

D.1. List any significant transactions between the savings bank and its 

Directors. 

 

 

Name Nature of the relationship Amount (in 

thousands €) 

   

 

 

D.2. List any significant transactions between the savings bank and its 

Control Committee members. 

 

 

Name Nature of the relationship Amount (in 

thousands €) 

   

 

 

D.3. List any significant transactions between the savings bank and its 

executives. 

 

 

Name Nature of the relationship Amount (in 

thousands €) 
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D.4. List any significant transactions between the savings bank and 

executives or directors of other companies or entities belonging to 

the same business group as the savings bank. 

 

 

Name Name of group company Nature of the 

relationship 

Amount (in 

thousands €) 

    

 

 

D.5. List any significant intragroup transactions. 

 

 

Name of group company Brief description of the transaction Amount (in 

thousands €) 

BUILDINGCENTER, S.A. DRAWDOWN ON CREDIT 

ACCOUNT WITH CAIXABANK 

6,604,397 

BUILDINGCENTER, S.A. LOAN RECEIVED FROM 

CAIXABANK 

31,730 

BUILDINGCENTER, S.A. CAPITAL INCREASE 500,000 

BUILDINGCENTER, S.A. AVAILABLE ON CREDIT ACCOUNT 

WITH CAIXABANK 

366,709 

CAIXACARD 1 EFC, S.A.U. LOAN RECEIVED FROM 

CAIXABANK 

1,502,027 

CAIXACARD 1 EFC, S.A.U. DRAWDOWN ON CREDIT 

ACCOUNT WITH CAIXABANK 

337,973 

CAIXACARD 1 EFC, S.A.U. CAPITAL INCREASE 2,000,000 

CAIXACARD 1 EFC, S.A.U. REPAYMENT OF PREMIUM TO 

CAIXABANK 

1,840,000 

SERVIHABITAT XXI, S.A.U. LOAN RECEIVED FROM 

CAIXABANK 

650,000 

SERVIHABITAT XXI, S.A.U. DRAWDOWN ON CREDIT 

ACCOUNT WITH CAIXABANK 

395,236 

SERVIHABITAT XXI, S.A.U. AVAILABLE ON CREDIT ACCOUNT 

WITH CAIXABANK 

203,189 

SERVIHABITAT XXI, S.A.U. DEBT SECURITIES 1,350,000 

VIDA CAIXA, S.A. DE SEGUROS Y 

REASEGUROS 

REPURCHASE AGREEMENT WITH 

CAIXABANK 

10,655,062 

VIDA CAIXA, S.A. DE SEGUROS Y 

REASEGUROS 

RESALE AGREEMENT WITH 

CAIXABANK 

900,199 
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VIDA CAIXA, S.A. DE SEGUROS Y 

REASEGUROS 

TERM DEPOSIT IN CAIXABANK 9,318,658 

VIDA CAIXA, S.A. DE SEGUROS Y 

REASEGUROS 

CURRENT ACCOUNT IN 

CAIXABANK 

93,141 

VIDA CAIXA, S.A. DE SEGUROS Y 

REASEGUROS 

OTHER TERM DEPOSITS IN 

CAIXABANK 

1,300,000 

VIDA CAIXA, S.A. DE SEGUROS Y 

REASEGUROS 

BONDS AND MORTGAGE 

COVERED BONDS 

1,589,000 

VIDA CAIXA, S.A. DE SEGUROS Y 

REASEGUROS 

OTHER NON-CONVERTIBLE 

SECURITIES ACQUIRED FROM 

CAIXABANK 

914,893 

VIDACAIXA GRUPO, S.A. DIVIDENDS RECEIVED BY 

CAIXABANK 

953,000 

VIDACAIXA GRUPO, S.A. CAPITAL INCREASE 770,028 

 

 

E    GROUP BUSINESS STRUCTURE 

 

 

E.1. Describe the Group‟s business structure, indicating the role played by 

each of the entities as an integral part of the services provided to 

customers. 

 

Group business structure 

The Group’s business structure is described in section K in this report.  

 

 

 

 Services provided to customers 

 

 

Name of group entity 

ARRENDAMENT IMMOBILIARI ASSEQUIBLE, S.L.U. 

 

 

Role played as an integral part of the services provided 

MANAGEMENT OF SUBSIDISED HOUSING 
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Name of group entity 

BUILDINGCENTER, S.A. 

 

 

Role played as an integral part of the services provided 

SERVICES 

 

 

Name of group entity 

CAIXABANK, S.A. 

 

 

Role played as an integral part of the services provided 

BANK 

 

 

Name of group entity 

CAIXA CAPITAL MICRO, SCR DE RÉGIMEN SIMPLIFICADO, S.A.U. 

 

 

Role played as an integral part of the services provided 

VENTURE CAPITAL COMPANY 

 

 

Name of group entity 

CAIXA CAPITAL PYME INNOVACIÓN, SCR DE RÉGIMEN SIMPLIFICADO, S.A. 

 

 

Role played as an integral part of the services provided 

VENTURE CAPITAL COMPANY 
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Name of group entity 

CAIXA CAPITAL RISC SGECR, S.A. 

 

 

Role played as an integral part of the services provided 

VENTURE CAPITAL COMPANY 

 

 

Name of group entity 

CAIXA CAPITAL SEMILLA, SCR DE RÉGIMEN SIMPLIFICADO, S.A. 

 

 

Role played as an integral part of the services provided 

VENTURE CAPITAL COMPANY 

 

 

Name of group entity 

CAIXACARD 1 EFC, S.A.U. 

 

 

Role played as an integral part of the services provided 

FINANCIAL. ELECTRONIC BANKING BUSINESS 

 

 

Name of group entity 

CAIXA EMPRENDEDOR XXI 

 

 

Role played as an integral part of the services provided 

PROMOTION OF BUSINESS AND ENTREPRENEURIAL INITIATIVES 

 

 

Name of group entity 
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CAIXABANK ELECTRONIC MONEY, EDE, S.L. 

 

 

Role played as an integral part of the services provided 

PAYMENT INSTITUTION 

 

 

Name of group entity 

CAIXARENTING, S.A.U. 

 

 

Role played as an integral part of the services provided 

VEHICLE AND MACHINERY LEASING 

 

 

Name of group entity 

CREDIFIMO 

 

 

Role played as an integral part of the services provided 

CONSUMER FINANCE 

 

 

Name of group entity 

CRITERIA CAIXAHOLDING, S.A.U. 

 

 

Role played as an integral part of the services provided 

INVESTEE HOLDING COMPANY. CONSULTANCY AND ADMINISTRATIVE SERVICES 

 

 

Name of group entity 

E- LA CAIXA 1, S.A. 
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Role played as an integral part of the services provided 

ELECTRONIC CHANNEL MANAGEMENT 

 

 

Name of group entity 

FINCONSUM, ESTABLECIMIENTO FINANCIERO DE CRÉDITO, S.A. 

 

 

Role played as an integral part of the services provided 

CONSUMER FINANCE 

 

 

Name of group entity 

FOMENT IMMOBILIARI ASSEQUIBLE S.A.U. 

 

 

Role played as an integral part of the services provided 

HOUSING DEVELOPMENT, INCLUDING SUBSIDISED HOUSING 

 

 

Name of group entity 

GDS-CUSA, S.A. 

 

 

Role played as an integral part of the services provided 

MANAGEMENT OF ARREARS AND OTHER OPERATIONAL SERVICES 

 

 

Name of group entity 

GESTICAIXA, SOCIEDAD GESTORA DE FONDOS DE TITULIZACIÓN, S.A. 
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Role played as an integral part of the services provided 

SECURITIZATION FUND MANAGEMENT  

 

 

Name of group entity 

INVERCAIXA GESTIÓN, SGIIC, S.A. 

 

 

Role played as an integral part of the services provided 

MANAGEMENT OF MUTUAL FUNDS 

 

 

Name of group entity 

MEDITERRANEA BEACH AND GOLF COMMUNITY, S.A. 

 

 

Role played as an integral part of the services provided 

OPERATION AND MANAGEMENT OF URBAN DEVELOPMENTS 

 

 

Name of group entity 

NUEVO MICROBANK, S.A.U. 

 

 

Role played as an integral part of the services provided 

MICROCREDIT FINANCE 

 

 

Name of group entity 

PROMOCAIXA, S.A. 
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Role played as an integral part of the services provided 

PRODUCT MANAGEMENT 

 

 

Name of group entity 

SABA INFRAESTRUCTURAS, S.A. 

 

 

Role played as an integral part of the services provided 

PARKING LOT AND LOGISTICS FACILITIES OPERATOR 

 

 

Name of group entity 

SEGURCAIXA ADESLAS, S.A. DE SEGUROS GENERALES Y REASEGUROS 

 

 

Role played as an integral part of the services provided 

INSURANCE 

 

 

Name of group entity 

SERVIHABITAT XXI, S.A.U. 

 

 

Role played as an integral part of the services provided 

REAL-ESTATE SERVICES 

 

 

Name of group entity 

SILK APLICACIONES, S.L. 

 

 

Role played as an integral part of the services provided 
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IT SERVICES 

 

 

Name of group entity 

SILC IMMOBLES, S.A. 

 

 

Role played as an integral part of the services provided 

REAL-ESTATE MANAGEMENT AND ADMINISTRATION 

 

 

Name of group entity 

SUMINISTROS URBANOS Y MANTENIMIENTOS, S.A. 

 

 

Role played as an integral part of the services provided 

PROJECT MANAGEMENT, MAINTENANCE, LOGISTICS AND PROCUREMENT 

 

 

Name of group entity 

TRADE CAIXA I, S.A. 

 

 

Role played as an integral part of the services provided 

ADMINISTRATION AND CONSULTANCY 

 

 

Name of group entity 

VIDACAIXA GRUPO, S.A. 

 

 

Role played as an integral part of the services provided 

PORTFOLIO COMPANY 
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Name of group entity 

VIDA CAIXA, S.A. DE SEGUROS Y REASEGUROS 

 

 

Role played as an integral part of the services provided 

INSURANCE 

 

 

Name of group entity 

VITHAS, S.A. 

 

 

Role played as an integral part of the services provided 

HOSPITAL MANAGEMENT 

 

 

E.2. Specify how the branch network is distributed geographically. 

 

 

Spanish Autonomous Community Number of branches 

Andalusia 1276 

Aragón 93 

Canary Islands 362 

Cantabria 52 

Castile-La Mancha 130 

Castile-Leon 377 

Catalonia 1581 

Madrid 752 

Navarre 186 

Valencia 454 

Basque Country 198 
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Asturias 75 

Extremadura 99 

Galicia 198 

Balearics 242 

La Rioja 30 

Murcia 131 

Ceuta 4 

Melilla 2 

Branches outside Spain 16 

Total 6342 

 

 

E.3. Where applicable, identify members of governing bodies who hold 

administrative or managerial posts in entities that belong to the 

savings bank‟s business group. 

 

 

Name of governing body member Name of group company Position 

FAINÉ CASAS, ISIDRO CAIXABANK, S.A. CHAIRMAN 

FAINÉ CASAS, ISIDRO CRITERIA CAIXAHOLDING, S.A.U. CHAIRMAN 

GABARRÓ SERRA, SALVADOR CAIXABANK, S.A. DIRECTOR 

GODÓ MUNTAÑOLA, JAVIER CAIXABANK, S.A. DIRECTOR 

GODÓ MUNTAÑOLA, JAVIER VIDACAIXA GRUPO, S.A. DIRECTOR 

AURIN PARDO, EVA CAIXABANK, S.A. DIRECTOR 

BARBER WILLEMS, VICTÒRIA CRITERIA CAIXAHOLDING, S.A.U. DIRECTOR 

BASSONS BONCOMPTE, MARIA 

TERESA 

CAIXABANK, S.A. DIRECTOR 

CABRA MARTORELL, 

MONTSERRAT 

CRITERIA CAIXAHOLDING, S.A.U. DIRECTOR 

GUÀRDIA CANELA, JOSEP-DELFÍ CRITERIA CAIXAHOLDING, S.A.U. DIRECTOR 

HABSBURG LOTHRINGEN, 

MONIKA 

CRITERIA CAIXAHOLDING, S.A.U. DIRECTOR 

HOMS FERRET, FRANCESC CRITERIA CAIXAHOLDING, S.A.U. DIRECTOR 

IBARZ ALEGRÍA, XAVIER CAIXABANK, S.A. DIRECTOR 

LÓPEZ BURNIOL, JUAN-JOSÉ CAIXABANK, S.A. DIRECTOR 

LLOBET MARIA, DOLORS CAIXABANK, S.A. DIRECTOR 
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LLOBET MARIA, DOLORS NUEVO MICROBANK, S.A.U. DIRECTOR 

LLOBET MARIA, DOLORS SABA INFRAESTRUCTURAS, S.A. DIRECTOR 

MARTÍN PUENTE, ESTEFANÍA 

JUDIT 

CRITERIA CAIXAHOLDING, S.A.U. DIRECTOR 

NOGUER PLANAS, MIQUEL CRITERIA CAIXAHOLDING, S.A.U. DIRECTOR 

NOGUER PLANAS, MIQUEL NUEVO MICROBANK, S.A.U. DIRECTOR 

NOGUER PLANAS, MIQUEL VIDACAIXA GRUPO, S.A. DIRECTOR 

NOVELLA MARTÍNEZ, JUSTO 

BIENVENIDO 

CRITERIA CAIXAHOLDING, S.A.U. DIRECTOR 

ROBLES GORDALIZA, ANA CRITERIA CAIXAHOLDING, S.A.U. DIRECTOR 

RODÉS CASTAÑÉ, LEOPOLDO CAIXABANK, S.A. DIRECTOR 

SIMÓN CARRERAS, JOSEP JOAN CRITERIA CAIXAHOLDING, S.A.U. DIRECTOR 

ZARAGOZÀ ALBA, JOSEP 

FRANCESC 

CRITERIA CAIXAHOLDING, S.A.U. DIRECTOR 

 

 

F    RISK CONTROL SYSTEMS 

 

 

F.1. Explain, where applicable, the risk control systems in place to cover 

the savings bank‟s activities. 

 

 

 Introduction:  

  

 Restructuring of the group in 2011 

  

 Up to the first half of 2011, the Group’s retail banking activity was carried 

out by Caja de Ahorros y Pensiones de Barcelona (CAPB, "la Caixa"), while 

Criteria CaixaCorp, S.A. managed the most important investees. On July 1, 

2011 the Group’s restructuring was completed with the creation and 

flotation of CaixaBank, S.A. 

   

 The “la Caixa” Group is the framework under which risk management at the 

parent company (CAPB) and at its subsidiaries, CaixaBank, S.A. 

("CaixaBank", a listed banking group 72.76% owned by “la Caixa” and 

through which "la Caixa" carries out its financial activity) and Criteria 

CaixaHolding, S.A.U. (unlisted investee, 100% owned by “la Caixa”), is 

coordinated and carried out.  
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 CaixaBank carries out retail banking and insurance activities and manages 

the international banking portfolio and the investments in Repsol YPF, S.A. 

and Telefónica, S.A., while Criteria CaixaHolding manages the rest of the 

industrial holdings portfolio and the real estate assets acquired prior to the 

restructuring of the Group.  

 Highlights of 2012 

  

 A main factor behind recent changes in the Group was the merger and 

absorption of Banca Cívica by CaixaBank carried out in August 2012. 

  

 Organization of the risk function 

  

 The Board of Directors of “la Caixa” is the entity's highest risk-policy setting 

body. A framework for reporting to the Board on risk matters has been put 

in place establishing the appropriate reporting content and frequency for 

each type of risk and thresholds which, if surpassed, require notification at 

the next Board meeting regardless of the established schedule. 

  

 The “la Caixa” Investment Committee must inform the Board of Directors or 

its Executive Committee of the viability and appropriateness of strategic 

investments and divestments made through CaixaBank or Criteria 

CaixaHolding with respect to the Group’s strategic plans. 

  

 The Management Committee manages risks at the highest level at “la 

Caixa,” in accordance with the strategies adopted by the Board of Directors. 

The Management Committee of “la Caixa” reviews and handles key 

information on the main levels and trends in risks assumed as a credit 

institutions, as well as those derived from indirectly carrying out its business 

through CaixaBank and Criteria CaixaHolding.  

  

 At the “la Caixa” Group, global risk management aims to ensure the 

company’s robust risk profile, preserve capital adequacy and optimize the 

return/risk ratio by identifying, measuring and assessing risks and ensuring 

that they are always taken into account in the “la Caixa” Group’s business 

decision-making process. This way, it sets a risk profile that is aligned with 

the Group’s strategic objectives. The basic focuses of the model of 

delegation are both the fundamental variables of risk and the amounts of 

transactions, and it enables the Group to quantify risks using scenarios 

based on capital use and expected loss. 

  

 The Board of Directors of “la Caixa” is the Group’s highest risk-policy 

setting body.  
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The Board-approved General Risk Management Principles can be 

summarized as follows:  

  

 •Risk is inherent to the Group’s business 

 •Ultimately responsibility of the Board and involvement of senior managers 

 •Medium-low risk profile 

 •Involvement throughout the organization 

   •Management throughout the full cycle of transactions: from preliminary 

analysis until approval, monitoring of solvency and profitability, to 

repayment or recovery of impaired assets. 

 •Joint decision-making 

 •Independence 

 •Approval based on the borrower’s repayment ability and an appropriate 

return 

 •The use of standard criteria and tools 

 •Decentralized decision-making 

 •Use of advanced techniques 

 •Allocation of appropriate reserves 

  

The risks it incurs as a result of Group activities are classified as follows: 

credit risk (arising from the banking business and risk associated with the 

investee portfolio), market risk (which includes structural balance sheet 

interest rate risk, the price or rate risk associated with treasury positions, 

and foreign currency risk), liquidity risk, operational risk, reputational risk 

and regulatory compliance risk. 

 For several years the “la Caixa” Group has been using a set of control tools 

and techniques based on the specific needs of each type of risk.  These 

include probability of default calculations obtained through rating and 

scoring tools, loss given default and expected loss calculations in 

connection with the various portfolios and risk-adjusted return tools, both at 

customer and branch level. Value at Risk (VaR) calculations are also 

performed for the portfolios as a method for controlling and setting 

market risk thresholds, and qualitative identification of the various 

operational risks relating to each Group activity. 

  

All risk measurement, monitoring and management work is carried out in 

accordance with the guidelines of the Basel Committee on Banking 

Supervision and legislation in European directives and Spanish legislation. 

The “la Caixa” Group agrees with the need for this accord and the 

principles giving rise to it because it encourages better risk management 

and measurement and makes capital requirements sensitive to the risks 

actually incurred.  
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Risk management policy main executive responsibilities. The Management 

Committee manages risks at the highest level at “la Caixa,” in accordance 

with the strategies adopted by the Board of Directors.  

 The Management Committee of “la Caixa” reviews and handles key 

information on the main levels and trends in risks assumed as a credit 

institutions, as well as those derived from indirectly carrying out its business 

through CaixaBank and Criteria CaixaHolding.  

  

 The Risk Department at “la Caixa” reports directly to "la Caixa"'s Deputy 

Executive CEO, and to the Legal Advisory Services, Finance, Corporate 

Office and Human Resources Areas.  

  

 Group companies have a structure of control and oversight of their 

activities, while “la Caixa” has a complementary structure organized in 

keeping with the principle of efficiency that provides support to the 

responsibilities of its administrators through control of the business as a 

credit institution and of the activities carried out by subsidiaries.  

  

 To comply with the efficiency principle, “la Caixa” carries out the necessary 

tasks internally that shape the complementary management, control and 

supervision inherent in its indirect operations. Meanwhile, it outsources to 

other Group companies tasks that which, although “la Caixa” may perform 

them, it does not because it would not be efficient, and those requiring a 

high degree of experience centered in CaixaBank and other Group 

companies.  

 Risk management in CaixaBank and Criteria CaixaHolding 

  

 •The CaixaBank Board of Directors is the Institution’s highest risk-policy 

setting body. Acting in line with the duties assigned by the Board, the senior 

executives are members of the following risk management committees: 

Global Risk, Loan Approval, Lending, Refinancing, ALCO (Asset-Liability 

management) and Real Estate Acquisition and Appraisal Committee.  

 •The Board of Directors of Criteria CaixaHolding is the most senior risk 

policy-setting body for the entity, a wholly-owned unlisted subsidiary of "la 

Caixa". Risk policies are set taking into account the entity's position within 

“la Caixa” Group corporate structure. Criteria CaixaHolding operates on a 

medium/long-term horizon to maximize value with a focus on corporate 

development and involvement in the strategies of investees, investing and 

divesting at the most opportune moments. 

 Criteria CaixaHolding participates actively on the corporate bodies of the 

main investees and is involved in defining their future strategies in 

coordination with the companies’ management teams. It has a vast 

knowledge of the industries in which it holds investments, in addition to a 

proven track record and experienced teams. Criteria CaixaHolding 

identifies, analyzes and assesses new business and investment 

opportunities each day. 
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 It also oversees the management of the real estate assets acquired by the 

Group prior to its reorganization in 2011. 

  

 Information to supplement that already provided in this section (F.1) is 

disclosed in note 3 to the "la Caixa" Group's consolidated financial 

statements. These documents are available on the Group's website 

(www.lacaixa.comunicacions.com). 

  

  

  

 

 

F.2. List the risks covered by the system, and explain why the risk control 

systems adopted are suited to the savings bank's profile, with regard 

to the bank's capital structure. 

 

 

 Except where expressly indicated otherwise, references to executive risk 

management posts in this section (F.2) relate to CaixaBank. 

 

 Credit risk measurement and rating 

 

The mission of Risk Models, Optimization and Capital Analysis, which 

reports to the Corporate Risk Models Division, is to build, maintain and 

monitor the credit risk management systems.  

 

It is also in charge of guaranteeing and advising on the use of these 

systems, while seeking to ensure that the decisions based on these 

measurements take their quality into account. As established in the best 

practices, this corporate division is independent from the business areas in 

order to ensure that risk rating policies are not affected by commercial 

considerations. 

 

 In accordance with Pillar 1 of Basel II and Bank of Spain Circular 3/2008, 

the "la Caixa" Group uses internal models to assess credit risk for the 

following types of exposure:  

 

 - Mortgage loans granted to individuals 
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 - Personal loans granted to individuals 

 

 - Cards issued to individuals 

 

 - Loans and credit granted to SMEs 

 

 - Loans and credit granted to large companies (corporations) 

 

 - Portfolio of industrial holdings 

 

 For other types of exposures, the “la Caixa” Group assesses the capital 

requirements to hedge against credit risk using the standard methodology. 

 

To achieve the Department's aims, periodic reviews are performed of all the 

models, to detect any deterioration in the quality of the measurements, and 

of the estimates made, for the purpose of including any fluctuations in the 

economic cycle.  Practically the entire retail banking portfolio, which 

includes the individual and SME segments, is assessed on a monthly basis, 

enabling the knowledge base for these customers and their portfolios to be 

continually updated. This continual risk assessment provides information on 

the distribution of risk exposure in the various portfolios with respect to 

creditworthiness, expressed as a probability of default. 

 

 Risk measurement involves two basic concepts, described below.  

 

 Expected loss 

 

Expected loss is the result of multiplying three factors: probability of default, 

exposure at default and loss given default. These three factors provide an 

estimate of the expected loss through credit risk from each loan, customer 

or portfolio. 

 

 Exposure 

 

Exposure at default (EAD) provides an estimate of the outstanding debt in 

the event of default by the customer. This measurement is particularly 

significant for financial instruments with a repayment structure that varies 

according to customer drawdowns (credit accounts, credit cards and, in 

general, any revolving credit product). 
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The estimate is based on the Institution’s internal default experience, 

relating the drawdown levels upon default to drawdown levels over the 12 

preceding months. The relationships observed in terms of product type, 

term to maturity and customer characteristics are modeled for each 

transaction. 

 

 Probability of default 

 

 ”la Caixa” uses management tools covering virtually all of its lending 

business to help estimate the probability of default (PD) associated with 

each borrower. 

 

The tools are either product-orientated or customer-orientated. Product-

oriented tools take account of the debtor’s specific characteristics in relation 

to the product concerned, and are used basically in connection with the 

approval of new retail banking transactions. Customer-orientated tools, on 

the other hand, assess the debtor’s probability of default on a general 

basis, though the results for individuals may differ according to the product.  

Customer-orientated tools include behavioral “scoring” models for 

individuals and ratings for companies, and are implemented throughout the 

branch network as part of the ordinary credit approval tools.  

 

  The credit risk rating tools were developed on the basis of the Institution’s 

NPL experience and include the measurements required to fine-tune the 

results to the business cycle and the projections for the next cycle, with a 

view to securing relatively stable measures in the long term, which may 

differ from the incidences of default observed at any given time.  

 

All rating tools for companies are customer-orientated and vary 

considerably according to the customer segment. The rating process for 

micro-enterprises and SMEs is very similar to that used for individuals. In 

this case a modular algorithm was developed, which rates three different 

sets of data: the financial statements, the information drawn from dealings 

with customers, and certain qualitative factors. The rating results are also 

adjusted to the business cycle using the same structure as that employed 

for individuals. 

 

 The Corporate Rating function, which reports to Corporate Companies and 

Public Sector Risk, has internal models in place to obtain ratings for the 

large companies segment. These are “expert” models which lend greater 

weight to the analysts’ qualitative judgments.  In view of the lack of internal 

default delinquency in this segment, the models were built in line with the 

Standard & Poor’s methodology, and thus the global default rates published 

by the rating agency could be used, making the methodology much more 

reliable.  The models were developed on the basis of data with sufficiently 
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significant historical depth, so they include the cycle effect to a reasonable 

degree and ensure the stability of the measurements obtained. 

 

 The results of all the tools are linked to a risk master scale that provides a 

standard classification for the lending portfolio, i.e. it allows risk to be 

grouped according to a common expected NPL ratio. 

 

 Loss Given Default 

 

 Loss given default (LGD) is the estimate of the percentage of debt that 

cannot be recovered in the event of customer default. The Institution 

reviews the default recovery and default remedial procedures on an 

ongoing basis to minimize the impact of a potential default. 

 

 Historic LGD rates are calculated using internal information at “la Caixa”, 

taking into consideration all the cash flows associated with the contracts 

from the moment of default until the situation is either remedied or a default 

is finally declared.  This calculation also includes an estimate of the indirect 

expenses (office staff, infrastructure costs and similar) associated with the 

process.  

 

 Additionally, work is carried out on modeling LGD in order to provide correct 

initial estimates, based on the collateral, the loan-to-value ratio, the type of 

product, the borrower’s creditworthiness and, as required by current 

legislation, the recessionary phases of the economic cycle.  

 

 As a result of credit approval policies, mandatory provision of collateral and 

the related loan-to-value ratio, and active default management, improving 

the levels of settlement and recovery in the event of default, the LGD rates 

for the now solid portfolio are quite low. 

 

 Unexpected loss and economic capital 

 

Measuring the expected loss guarantees proper control of credit risk under 

“normal” market conditions. The expected loss, in fact, may be considered 

as an additional business cost.  However, at times real losses can exceed 

the expected losses due to sudden changes in the cycle or variations in the 

specific risk factors of each portfolio and the natural correlation between the 

various debtors’ credit risk.  

 

The variability of the expected losses from the portfolio constitutes 

unexpected losses, which represent potential unforeseen losses. They are 

calculated as the loss associated with a sufficiently high level of confidence 
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in the distribution of losses, less the expected losses. In its normal business 

activity, the Savings Bank must have the ability to absorb these unforeseen 

losses.  

 

 Traditionally, two concepts have been distinguished:  

 

 •Economic capital is that which an entity ought to have to cover any 

unexpected losses that may arise and may jeopardize its continuity. It is the 

entity’s own estimate, adjusted according to the level of tolerance to risk, 

volume and type of activity. It is the responsibility of the entity’s Board of 

Directors and senior executives to ensure that in all circumstances there is 

a sufficient level of capital so that any eventuality may be faced with a level 

of confidence of 99.97%. This responsibility was emphasized in Pillar 2 of 

the Basel Capital Accord. 

 

  •Regulatory capital is that which an entity must maintain to cover the 

requirements of the supervisory body.  The aim is also to avoid bankruptcy 

at the entity while protecting the interests of customers and holders of 

senior debt, thus preventing any major systemic impact. 

 

Economic capital is not a substitute for regulatory capital, but complements 

it to move towards the real risk profile assumed by the Institution and 

incorporate risks which were not envisaged -or only partially considered– in 

the regulatory requirements.  

 

The economic capital model forms the basis of the internal estimate of 

capital requirements which acts as a supplement to the regulatory view of 

capital adequacy. These measures form part of the Risk Control Panel and 

of the Internal Capital Adequacy Assessment Report presented to the 

supervisor.  

 

 Risk-adjusted return (RAR) 

 

Tools for measuring profitability against risk by business and customer 

continued to be developed during 2012 to improve control over the return-

risk ratio for shareholders. The RAR tool is currently set up in the business 

and banking network. During the year, a pilot test was conducted in the 

SMEs segment in the universal network. 

 

 Internal validation 

 

 The New Basel Capital Accord focuses on determining the minimum 

capital requirements for each entity in accordance with its risk profile.  With 
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regard to credit risk, entities are allowed to use internal rating models and 

their own estimates of risk parameters to determine capital requirements. 

 

The importance of the process for determining capital requires the 

utilization of suitable control features to ensure the estimates are reliable. 

The Bank of Spain establishes internal validation as a mandatory pre-

requisite for supervisory validation, and requires the process to be carried 

out by an independent specialized division within the entity. It must also be 

carried out on a continuous basis at the entities, as a complementary 

feature to traditional control functions (internal audit and supervision). 

 

 The validation function at the "la Caixa" Group is carried out by the Internal 

Validation unit as part of the Technical Secretariat and Validation area, 

which reports directly to Risks, guaranteeing the independence of the 

teams developing and implementing internal models. 

 

The main goals of the Internal Validation unit are to issue an opinion as to 

whether the internal models are suitable for management and regulatory 

purposes, identifying all their relevant uses, and to assess whether the risk 

management and control procedures are in line with the Entity’s risk profile 

and strategy. The function must also support Senior Executives (especially 

the Global Risk Management Committee) in their responsibilities regarding 

approval of the use of the internal models, and coordinate the supervisory 

validation process with the Bank of Spain. 

 

 Internal Validation's work methodology is based on the preparation of 

annual plans, with a distinction made between tasks relating to regulatory 

compliance and the specific reviews planned. 

 

 Regulatory compliance activities comprise:  

 

 •Validation cycles, a set of regular reviews used to conduct an annual 

analysis on each IRB approach in terms of its performance and integration 

within the risk management processes. This guarantees an updated opinion 

on the state of the internal models and their uses. 

 

 •Exhaustive reviews following major modifications to IRB models that 

require a preliminary opinion by Internal Validation. 

 

 •Regulatory reporting (IRB Monitoring Dossier, Internal Validation Report). 
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 In addition, reviews may be conducted in order to further address aspects 

encountered in the validation cycles or as requested by the supervisor or 

the areas concerned. 

 

The scope of Internal Validation initially focused on Credit Risk. However, market 

risk was included in 2010 and this portfolio was added to recurring reviews 

(validation cycles) from 2011. 

 

 Especially noteworthy this year have been the reviews carried out due to 

the implementation of the new IRB models 

 

 Operational risk 

 

 "la Caixa" draws from CaixaBank in managing operational risk, by adapting 

and applying CaixaBank's operational risk model to its own scope of 

influence. At CaixaBank, the Global Risk Committee is the management 

body that defines the strategic lines of action and monitors operational risk 

profiles, the main loss scenarios, and the steps to be taken to mitigate 

them.  

 

There are two main lines of action: training employees so that they have the 

necessary experience and information they need to carry out their 

functions, and systematic recurring reviews of business and operating 

processes, putting improvements and new controls in place. Moreover, 

where necessary, the “la Caixa” Group transfers the risk to third parties by 

taking out insurance policies. 

 

 Group level management covers companies within the scope of application 

of Bank of Spain Capital Adequacy Circular 03/2008.  

 

 In this regard, since 2002 it has operated an “Operational Risk 

Management Framework”,  which defines the Group’s objectives, policies, 

management model and measurement methodologies relating to 

operational risk at the “la Caixa” Group.  

 

 The overall objective at the “la Caixa” Group is to improve the quality of 

business management based on information concerning operational risks, 

aiding decision-making to ensure the organization’s long-term continuity 

and improving processes and the quality of customer service, while 

complying with the established regulatory framework and optimizing the use 

of capital. 
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 The operational risk management model and policies establish an ongoing 

process based on the following:  

 

 • Identification and detection of all current and potential operational risks, 

based on qualitative techniques – the opinion of process experts and risk 

indicators – and procedures for the management of operational risks, in 

order to define the operational risk profile for the “la Caixa” Group. An 

objective is in place to conduct an annual assessment and qualitative 

measurement of operational risks targeting the main ones. The 

measurements are based on expected loss and VaR.  

 

 •Quantitative assessment of operational risk using actual data on losses 

recorded by the operational events database.  

 

 •Active management of the Group’s risk profile, which involves establishing 

a reporting model at all levels of the organization to assist with decision-

making aimed at mitigating risk (setting up new controls, developing 

business continuity plans, re-engineering processes, taking out insurance 

against potential contingencies and others), anticipating the possible 

causes of risk and reducing the economic impact. Monitoring of the main 

qualitative risks and real losses through remedial steps and action plans is 

the key to moving forward to achieve this management goal. 

 

 Market risk in trading activities 

 

The Corporate Risk Models Division is responsible for valuing financial 

instruments; measuring, monitoring and following up on associated risks; as 

well as estimating the counterparty risk and operational risk associated with 

activities on financial markets. To perform its functions, on a daily basis this 

Corporate Division monitors the contracts traded, calculates how changes 

in the market will affect the positions held (daily marked-to-market result), 

quantifies the market risk assumed, monitors compliance with the 

thresholds, and analyses the ratio of actual returns to the assumed risk. 

 

 The Bank of Spain approved the internal model for estimating capital for 

market risk of trading activities in 2006. The scope of the model covers 

virtually all treasury positions and the trading derivatives over investees. 

 

Through the Treasury Desk’s involvement in financial markets and trading 

derivatives over investees , the "la Caixa" Group is exposed to market risk 

due to unfavorable movements in the following risk factors:  interest rate 

and foreign exchange rate (caused by positioning in the sphere of cash 

management), share prices, commodity prices, inflation, volatility and 

movements in the credit spreads of private fixed-income positions.  
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 There are two concepts which constitute common denominators and 

market standards for measurement of this risk: sensitivity and VaR (value at 

risk).  

 

 Sensitivity calculates risk as the impact on the value of positions of a minor 

change in the risk factors, as follows:  

 

 •For interest rate and inflation risk, a calculation is performed of the change 

in the present value of each of the future flows (actual or forecast) in the 

event of a one basis point (0.01%) change at all stages of the curve.  

 

 • For exchange rate risk, the variation in the equivalent value of each 

currency flow is calculated according to variations of one percentage point 

(1 %) in the exchange rate.  

 

 •For risk involving the price of shares or other equity instruments arranged 

by the Treasury Desk and for commodity price risk, the variation in the 

current value of the position or portfolio is calculated according to a 

variation of one percentage point (1%) in the prices of its components.  

 

  •For volatility risk (variability of rates or prices), which includes operations 

with option characteristics (interest rate caps and floors and foreign 

currency or equity options), the variation in the current value of each future 

flow is calculated according to the variations of the volatilities listed on all 

sections of the curve, in interest rates and/or in the prices of the asset.  

 

 These sensitivity analyses provide information about the impact of an 

increase in interest rates, foreign exchange rates, prices and volatilities on 

the economic value of the positions, but they do not provide information on 

the probability of such changes. 

 

In order to standardize risk measurement across the entire portfolio, and to 

produce certain assumptions regarding the extent of changes in market risk 

factors, the Value at Risk methodology is used (VaR: statistical estimate of 

potential losses from historical data on price fluctuations) using a one-day 

time horizon and a statistical confidence level of 99%. In other words, 99 

times out of 100 the actual losses sustained will be less than the losses 

estimated under the VaR method. 

 

 Two methodologies are used to obtain this measurement: 

 

• Parametric VaR: the parametric VaR technique is based on the statistical 

treatment of parameters such as volatility and matching fluctuations in the 
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prices and interest and exchange rates of the assets comprising the 

portfolio and is applied, in accordance with the recommendations of the 

Basel Committee on Banking Supervision, using two time horizons: a 75-

day data window, giving more weight to recent observations, and a one-

year data window, giving equal weight to all observations. 

 

 •VaR histórico: this technique calculates the impact on the value of the 

current portfolio of historical changes in risk factors. Changes over the last 

250 days are taken into account and, with a confidence level of 99%, VaR 

is taken to be the third worst impact on the value of the portfolio. 

 

Historical VaR is an extremely useful system for completing the estimates 

obtained by the parametric VaR technique, since it does not include any 

assumptions on the statistical behavior of risk factors.  The parametric VaR 

technique assumes fluctuations that can be modeled using normal 

statistical distribution. 

 

 Historical VaR is also an especially suitable technique since it includes non-

linear relationships between the risk factors, which are particularly 

necessary for options transactions, although it must be said that the risk 

associated with options has been a minor risk. 

 

A drop in the credit rating of asset issuers can also give rise to adverse 

changes in quoted market prices. Accordingly, Risk Models completes the 

quantification of market risk with an estimate of the losses arising from 

changes in the volatility of the credit spread on private fixed-income 

positions (Spread VaR), which constitutes an estimate of the specific risk 

attributable to issuers of securities. 

 

To confirm the suitability of the risk estimates, daily results are compared 

against the losses estimated under the VaR technique (backtesting). As 

required by bank regulators, the risk estimate model is checked in two 

ways: 

 

 •Net backtesting, which relates the portion of the daily marked-to-market 

result of open positions at the close of the previous session to the 

estimated VaR for a time horizon of one day, calculated on the basis of the 

open positions at the close of the previous session. This backtesting is the 

most appropriate means of performing a self-assessment of the 

methodology used to quantify risk. 

 

 •Gross back testing, which compares the total result obtained during the 

day (therefore including any intraday transactions) to VaR for a time horizon 

of one day, calculated on the basis of the open positions at the close of the 

previous session. This provides an assessment of the importance of 
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intraday transactions in generating profit and calculating the total risk of the 

portfolio. 

 

Since January 2012, VaR measures are complemented by two risk metrics 

related to the new regulatory requirements: Stressed VaR and Incremental 

Default and Migration Risk. Stressed VaR indicates the maximum loss on 

adverse movements in market prices based on a stressed historical period 

of one year, with a 99% confidence level and a daily time horizon. 

Incremental Default and Migration Risk reflects the risk related to changes 

in credit ratings or breach of positions in fixed-income instruments and 

credit derivatives in the trading portfolio, with a confidence level of 99.9% 

and a one-year time horizon. 

 

 Lastly, two stress testing techniques are used on the value of the treasury 

positions to calculate the possible losses on the portfolio in situations of 

extreme stress: 

 

 •Systematic stress testing: this technique calculates the change in value of 

the portfolio in the event of a specific series of extreme changes in the main 

risk factors. It considers parallel interest rate shifts (rising and falling), 

changes at various points of the slope of the interest rate curve (steepening 

and flattening), increased and decreased spread between the instruments 

subject to credit risk and government debt securities (bond-swap spread), 

parallel shifts in the dollar and euro curves, higher and lower volatility of 

interest rates, appreciation and depreciation of the euro with respect to the 

dollar, the yen and sterling, increases and decreases in exchange rate 

volatility; increases and decreases in share prices, and higher and lower 

volatility of shares and commodities. 

 

 •Analysis of historic scenarios: this technique addresses the potential 

impact of actual past situations on the value of the positions held, such as 

the collapse of the Nikkei in 1990, the US debt crisis and the Mexican peso 

crisis in 1994, the 1997 Asian crisis, the 1998 Russian debt crisis, the 

growth of the technology bubble in 1999 and its collapse in the year 2000, 

or the terrorist attacks that have caused the most severe effects on finance 

markets in recent years, the credit crunch of the summer of 2007, the 

liquidity and confidence crisis triggered by the failure of Lehman Brothers in 

September 2008, and the increase in credit differentials in peripheral euro-

zone countries by contagion of the financial crisis in Greece and Ireland in 

2010 or the Spanish debt crisis in 2011. 

 

 To complete these analyses of risk under extreme situations, the "worst-

case scenario" is determined as the state of the risk factors in the last year 

that would cause the heaviest losses in the current portfolio. This is 

followed by an analysis of the “distribution tail”, i.e. the size of the losses 

that would ensue if the market factor movement causing the losses were 

calculated on the basis of a 99.9% confidence level. 
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 As part of the required monitoring and control of the market risks taken, 

Management approves a structure of overall VaR limits, complemented by 

the definition of VaR sublimits, maximum losses and sensitivities for the 

various management units that could assume market risk in trading 

activities, for the Front Office activity. The risk factors are managed by 

Treasury and Capital Markets within the scope of its responsibility on the 

basis of the return/risk ratio determined by market conditions and 

expectations. The Corporate Risk Models Division is in charge of 

monitoring compliance with these thresholds and the risks undertaken, and 

produces a daily report on position, risk quantification and the utilization of 

risk thresholds, which is distributed to Management, Front Office executives 

and the Internal Audit division. 

 

 Management of structural balance sheet interest rate risk 

 

Balance sheet interest rate risk is inherent to all banking activity. The 

balance sheet consists of clusters of assets and liabilities with different 

maturity dates and interest rates.  Interest rate risk occurs when changes in 

the curve structure of market rates affect these clusters, leading to their 

renewal at rates that differ from the previous ones with effects on their 

economic value and on net interest income.  

 

 This risk is managed and controlled directly by Management, through the 

Asset-Liability Committee (ALCO).  

 

 The "la Caixa" Group manages this type of risk with two objectives: to 

reduce the sensitivity of net interest income to interest rate fluctuations and 

to preserve the economic value of the balance sheet. To attain these 

objectives, CaixaBank actively manages the risk by arranging additional 

hedging transactions on financial markets to supplement the natural hedges 

generated on its own balance sheet as a result of the complementary 

nature of the sensitivity to interest rate fluctuations of the deposits and 

lending transactions arranged with customers.  

 

 The Deputy General Manager Treasury and Capital Markets Division is 

responsible for analyzing this risk and proposing hedging transactions to 

the ALCO, in accordance with these objectives. Carrying out this function 

involves the use of the following assessment measures. 

 

The static gap reveals the spread of interest rate due dates and reviews, on 

a specific date, for sensitive items on the balance sheet. For items without a 

contractual maturity date (such as demand accounts), their sensitivities to 

interest rates and the expected due date are analyzed on the basis of past 

experience of customer behavior, including the possibility that the customer 

may withdraw the funds in these types of products.  For other products, in 

order to define the assumptions for early termination, internal models are 

used which include behavioral variables of customers, products, 
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seasonality and macro-economic variables to ascertain the future 

operations of customers. 

 

 The sensitivity of net interest income shows the impact on the review of 

balance sheet transactions caused by changes in the interest rate curve. 

This sensitivity is determined by comparing a net interest income 

simulation, at one or two years, on the basis of various interest rate 

scenarios.  The most likely scenario, which is obtained using the implicit 

market rates, is compared against other scenarios of rising or falling 

interest rates and changes in the slope of the curve.   

 

The sensitivity of equity to interest rates measures the potential effect on 

the present value of the balance sheet in the event of interest rate 

fluctuations. The sensitivities of net interest income and equity are 

measurements that complement each other and provide an overview of 

structural risk, which focuses more on the short and medium term, in the 

case of net interest income, and on the medium and long term in the case 

of equity.   

 

VaR measurements are also applied in accordance with treasury-specific 

methodology (see the section on market risk). Finally, earnings at risk 

(EaR) measurements are also taken in order to establish with a certain 

level of confidence (99%) the maximum loss of net interest income over the 

next two years, considering a certain amount of balance sheet growth. This 

analysis also identifies the potential worst and best scenarios of all the 

simulated scenarios, thereby showing maximum levels of risk. 

 

 Regular reports are submitted to the Institution’s Board of Directors 

regarding interest rate risk on the balance sheet, and checks are made to 

ensure compliance with specified limits. 

 

 In accordance with current regulations, the “la Caixa” Group does not avail 

itself of its own funds for the structural interest rate risk assumed, in view of 

the low risk profile of its balance sheet.  Although the balance sheet interest 

rate risk undertaken by “la Caixa” is substantially below levels considered 

significant (outliers), in keeping with the proposals of Basel II, “la Caixa” 

continues to take a series of steps towards more intense monitoring and 

management of balance sheet interest rate risk. 

 

 Liquidity risk 

 

 The Asset and Liability Management (ALM) Division, which reports to the 

Deputy General Manager Treasury and Capital Markets Division, is 

responsible for analyzing liquidity risk.  
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 The “la Caixa” Group manages liquidity in such a way that it can always 

meet its commitments on a timely basis and never sees its investment 

business reduced due to a lack of available funds.  This objective is 

achieved by active management of liquid assets, through continuous 

monitoring of the structure of the balance sheet, on the basis of maturity 

dates with early detection of potentially undesirable structures of short- and 

medium-term liquid assets, and by adopting a strategy that gives stability to 

financing sources.  

 

The analysis of liquidity risk is performed both under normal market 

conditions and crisis situations, in which various specific, systemic and 

combined crisis scenarios are considered, involving different severity 

assumptions in terms of reduced liquidity. Five crisis scenario categories 

are considered: three systemic crisis scenarios (macro-economic crises, 

malfunctions on capital markets and alterations in payment systems), a 

specific crisis scenario (reputation crisis), and a combined crisis scenario 

deemed to be the “worst-case scenario.” The scenarios address different 

various time horizons and LGD levels based on the nature of the crisis 

analyzed.  For each crisis scenario, “survival” periods (defined as the ability 

to continue to meet its obligations) are calculated, with sufficient liquidity 

levels to cope successfully with the crisis situations considered.  On the 

basis of the analyses, a Liquidity Risk Contingency Plan has been drawn 

up, defining an action plan for each of the crisis scenarios (systemic, 

specific and combined), with the measures to be taken on the commercial, 

institutional and disclosure level to deal with this kind of situation, including 

the possibility of using a number of stand-by reserves or extraordinary 

funding. 

 

 The ALCO Committee monitors medium-term liquidity on a monthly basis 

through the analysis of time lags forecast in the balance sheet structure, 

and verifies compliance with the thresholds and operating lines of action 

approved by the Board of Directors. ALCO makes proposals to the Board of 

Directors on the optimum issues or finance/investment programs to suit 

market conditions and the instruments and terms needed to assist business 

growth.  ALCO periodically monitors a series of indicators and warnings to 

detect signs of liquidity stress in order to adopt the corrective measures laid 

down in the Liquidity Risk Contingency Plan.  A monthly analysis is also 

performed of the potential liquidity levels under each of the hypothetical 

crisis scenarios. 

 

 A monthly report is submitted to the Institution’s Board of Directors 

regarding the state of liquidity, and checks are made to ensure compliance 

with specified limits. 

 

 Management of short-term liquidity ensures that liquid assets are 

permanently available on the balance sheet, i.e. it minimizes the structural 

liquidity risk inherent to the banking business. To assist with this 

management process, a daily breakdown of liquidity by due dates is made 

available by drawing up projections of future flows, providing information on 

the time structure of liquid assets at all times.   
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 The “la Caixa” Group actively manages liquidity risk, and with a view to pre-

empting possible lending funds requirements it has several ordinary finance 

programs that cover the different maturity dates in order to guarantee at all 

times certain suitable levels of liquidity.  These programs are the 

promissory notes scheme, the Framework Program for the Issue of 

Securities involving simple fixed-income and, additionally, as another 

prudent measure to prepare for potential stress on liquid assets or market 

crises, the “la Caixa” Group has placed a series of guarantee deposits with 

the European Central Bank (ECB) which it can use to obtain high levels of 

liquidity at short notice (ECB policy). 

 

 Given that the “la Caixa” Group exploits existing mechanisms in the 

financial markets to ensure levels of liquidity are consistent with its strategic 

goals, it avoids the concentration of maturity dates for its issues and has 

diversified sources of finance. Pursuant to current legislation, the Institution 

does not use its own funds for the liquidity risk it undertakes.  

 

 Information to supplement that already provided in this section (F0.2) is 

disclosed in note 3 to the "la Caixa" Group's consolidated financial 

statements. These documents are available on the Group's website 

(www.lacaixa.comunicacions.com). 

 

 Audit 

 

After the ”la Caixa” Group’s reorganization in 2011, which culminated with 

the creation of CaixaBank (listed company), and in the wake of the recent 

integration of financial institutions, the Group has become far more 

complex.  

 

 In the current environment of economic volatility and changes in the 

financial system and the regulatory framework, the demands on and duties 

of senior management and governing bodies are increasing, as is 

stakeholder sensitivity to corporate governance and internal control. 

 

 Against this backdrop, Audit is in charge of ensuring the correct 

performance of and supervising the Group’s internal control framework. 

 

 It reports systematically to the Executive Vice President of “la Caixa,” as 

well as to the Control Committee, which oversees the internal audit function 

and the integrity of the Group’s internal control framework. 

 

Audit carries out its activity through three specialized functions that operate 

under the principle of independence between them and with regard to other 
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areas in the organization and to subsidiaries: internal control, compliance 

and audit. 

 

 Internal Control 

 

 In order to reinforce the control structures, the mission of Internal Control is 

to ensure management and the governing bodies that the necessary 

controls were in place, designed correctly and operating efficiently to 

manage the “la Caixa” Group’s risks, thereby generating confidence for 

stakeholders. 

 

 Its main duties are:  

 

 • Coordination of the Risk Map and Corporate Controls 

 

• Collaboration with the Areas in the description and, as appropriate, the 

design of risk control protocols for their businesses and action plans to 

remedy any deficiencies in weakness in control.  

 

 • Synthetic, periodic and systematic reporting of information to senior 

management and governing bodies on the Group’s control environment.  

 

 This function’s activity is cross-cutting as it assesses risk control 

mechanisms that affect the entire set of activities and businesses carried 

out by the Group.  

 

 Compliance 

 

 Compliance risk 

 

 Compliance policy at “la Caixa” is based on the principles of integrity and 

ethical conduct, the cornerstones of the “la Caixa” Group’s business, and 

includes the prevention of money laundering and the financing of terrorism. 

 

 The mission of Compliance 

 

 The mission of Compliance at the “la Caixa” Group focuses on 

management of the risk of legal or regulatory penalties, financial, material 
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or reputational loss that may be incurred by the “la Caixa” Group as a result 

of failure to comply with laws, regulations, regulatory standards or codes of 

conduct. 

 

 This mission involves carrying out a number of activities, such as: creating, 

publicizing and implementing the culture of compliance at all levels of the 

“la Caixa” Group, advising senior executives with respect to regulatory 

compliance, drawing up and/or promoting internal rules and codes, or 

improving those that already exist, defining effective procedures, and if 

necessary proposals suitable controls. Any risk of non-compliance must be 

detected, and if necessary proposals must be made with a view to 

improvement. Any shortcomings must be monitored and examined using 

the principles of ethical conduct. 

 

 Compliance manages a Confidential Consulting and Reporting Channel 

available to employees and through which they can clear up any doubts or 

report any possible breach of compliance with the  “Code of Ethics and 

Action Principles” and the “Code of Telematic Conduct”. All notifications, 

which are confidential, are forwarded to the Compliance department. This 

channel includes a specific procedure for reporting irregularities of a 

financial and/or accounting nature. 

 

  To achieve these objectives, Compliance drafts assessment reports on 

compliance with regulations to identify the risks and follows up 

improvements. Improvements are monitored monthly until completion.  

 

 Compliance regularly reports on its activities to senior management and the 

Control Committee. 

 

 Money laundering prevention 

 

Since the end of 2010, the Money Laundering Prevention Operating Unit 

has been integrated in Compliance under the management and supervision 

of the Money Laundering Prevention Committee. This Unit is dedicated 

exclusively to overseeing compliance with the money laundering prevention 

obligations imposed by law on credit institutions. 

 

 The functions delegated expressly by the Money Laundering Prevention 

Committee in the Money Laundering Prevention Operating Unit (MLPOU) 

and carried out in the year are as follows: 

 

 • Receive notifications by employees and analyze the relevant information.  
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 • Present within the time limit and the manner stipulated the regular 

statements required by money laundering prevention regulations. 

 

 •Comply promptly, safely and efficiently with requirements to report to the 

competent authorities on matters of money laundering prevention. 

 

 Internal Rules of Conduct on matters relating to the Securities Market 

 

On July 19, 2012, the Board of Directors of Caixa d’Estalvis i Pensions de 

Barcelona, “la Caixa”, approved new Internal Rules of Conduct (IRC) on 

matters relating to the Stock Market replacing the previous ones in order to 

adapt it to the current status of “la Caixa” as a credit institution which 

carries out its financial activity indirectly through CaixaBank, S.A.  The 

Internal Rules of Conduct on matters relating to the Securities Market of “la 

Caixa’’ therefore no longer refer to the rendering of investment services to 

customers, which are performed directly by CaixaBank. However, since “la 

Caixa’’ continues to issue securities, the rules set forth the obligations of 

securities issuers in line with prevailing legislation.  

 

 Internal Audit 

 

The mission of Internal Audit is to guarantee effective supervision, 

evaluating the internal control systems and management of the 

organization’s risks on an on-going basis. It performs an independent 

corporate function to foster good corporate governance. 

 

 It reports systematically to the Control Committee and provide Senior 

Management with an objective overview of the effectiveness of the internal 

control framework.  

 

 Internal Audit is strategically focused on detecting, supervising and 

monitoring the Group’s main risks. Its main objectives are to contribute to 

good corporate governance and the achievement of the Organization’s 

strategic objectives through:  

 

 • Evaluation of the quality and effectiveness of the Group’s Internal Control 

framework in to order guarantee its correct performance and the mitigation 

of the main risks. 

 

 • Review of compliance with internal and external regulations. 
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 • Evaluation of the appropriateness of the activities carried out by the 

various group units, ensuring that a system to detect fraud is in place. 

 

 The principal lines of action of Internal Audit are as follows: 

 

 • Monitor the annual planning focused on the main risks and approved by 

the Control Committee.  

 

 • Handle requests by the Board of Directors, Senior Management and 

supervisory authorities.  

 

 • Ensure the efficient use of resources by enhancing remote auditing, 

engaging qualified auditors and appropriate outsourcing arrangements. 

 

F.3. In the event that any of the risks affecting the savings bank and/or its 

group materialised over the period, explain the causes and state 

whether the control systems in place worked adequately. 

 

 

F.4. Indicate whether there is a committee or other governing body 

responsible for establishing and supervising these control systems.  

If so, explain its duties. 

 

 

F.5. Identify and describe the processes for complying with the different 

regulations affecting the savings bank and/or its group. 
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G    ANNUAL REPORT PREPARED BY THE BANK'S INVESTMENT COMMITTEE PURSUANT 

TO ARTICLE 20 TER OF THE SAVINGS BANK GOVERNING BODIES ACT 1985 (LEY 31/1985 

OF AUGUST 2)  

 

 

 

 

G.1. Complete the following table on acquisitions or disposals of 

significant shareholdings in listed companies carried out by the 

savings bank during the financial year, either directly or through any 

of its group companies. 

 

 

Amount (in 

thousands €) 

Investment 

or 

divestment 

Transaction 

completion date 

Entity acquired or disposed 

of 

Direct or indirect 

holding by the 

savings bank after 

the transaction 

Date on which the 

Investment 

Committee issued 

its report and 

opinion on the 

financial viability of 

the transaction and 

its compliance with 

the savings bank's 

budgets and 

strategic plans 

93,000 Investment 03-05-2012 BANCO BPI, S.A. 48.99 The report from the 

Investment 

Committee was 

issued in favor of the 

investment on April 

12, 2012. 

80,704 Divestment 03-10-2012 ABERTIS 

INFRAESTRUCTURAS. S.A. 

26.42 The report from the 

Investment 

Committee was 

issued in favor of the 

divestment on May 

10, 2012. 

 

 

G.2. Complete the following table on investments or disposals in business 

projects by the savings bank over the year, whether directly or 

through group companies, insofar as such investments or disposals 

include part or full managerial control or seats on the governing 

bodies. 
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Amount (in 

thousands €) 

Investment 

or 

divestment 

Transaction 

completion date 

Entity acquired or disposed 

of 

Direct or indirect 

holding by the 

savings bank after 

the transaction 

Date on which the 

Investment 

Committee issued 

its report and 

opinion on the 

financial viability of 

the transaction and 

its compliance with 

the savings bank's 

budgets and 

strategic plans 

500,000 Investment 17-07-2012 BUILDINGCENTER, S.A. 100.00 The report from the 

Investment 

Committee was 

issued in favor of the 

capital increase on 

May 10, 2011. 

105,000 Divestment 31-12-2012 PORT AVENTURA 

ENTERTAINMENT, S.A. 

0.00 The report from the 

Investment 

Committee was 

issued in favor of the 

sale on September 6, 

2012. 

 

 

G.3. Indicate the number of reports issued by the Investment Committee 

during the year. 

 

 

Number of reports issued 22 

 

 

G.4. Indicate the date on which the Investment Committee‟s Annual Report 

was approved. 

 

 

Report date 17-01-2013 

 

 

H    REMUNERATION 

 

 

H.1. Indicate, in aggregate form, the remuneration paid to key executive 

personnel and to Directors in their capacity as executives. 
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Remuneration Amount (in 

thousands €) 

Salaries and similar remuneration 4,064 

Pension commitments or life insurance premiums 2,064 

 

 

H.2. Complete the following tables showing, in aggregate form, attendance 

allowances and similar remuneration. 

 

a) Board of Directors 

 

 

Remuneration Amount (in 

thousands €) 

Attendance allowances and other similar remuneration 836 

 

b) Control Committee 

 

 

Remuneration Amount (in 

thousands €) 

Attendance allowances and other similar remuneration 318 

 

c) Remuneration Committee 

 

 

Remuneration Amount (in 

thousands €) 

Attendance allowances and other similar remuneration 12 

 

d) Investment Committee 
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Remuneration Amount (in 

thousands €) 

Attendance allowances and other similar remuneration 27 

 

 

H.3. Indicate, in aggregate form, the remuneration paid to members of the 

savings bank's governing bodies and to its executive officers when 

representing the savings bank at listed companies or other entities in 

which the savings bank holds a significant presence or holding. 

 

 

Remuneration paid (in thousands €) 5,397 

 

 

H.4. Indicate, in aggregate form, any indemnity or “golden parachute” 

clauses for cases of dismissal, resignation or retirement of key 

executive officers and Directors in their capacity as executives. 

Indicate whether these contracts must be disclosed to, or approved 

by, the governing bodies of the savings bank or its group. 

 

Number of beneficiaries  

 

 

 Board of Directors  General Assembly 

Body authorizing clauses   

 

 

 YES NO 

Is the General Shareholders‟ Meeting informed of such clauses?   

 

 

I.    EQUITY UNITS  

 

 

I.1. Complete, if applicable, the following table on equity units (cuotas 

participativas) in the savings bank. 
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Date of last modification Total volume (in thousands €) Number of units 

 0,00 0 

 

 If there are different types of units, list them in the table below. 

 

Type Number of units Nominal value 

   

 

 

I.2. Indicate any direct or indirect holder of equity units (cuotas 

participativas) whose holding represents 2% or more of the total 

volume of outstanding units of the institution at the close of the 

financial year, excluding Directors. 

 

Name or corporate name of 

the unit holder 

Number of direct units Number of indirect units (*) % of total volume 

    

 

 (*) Through: 

 

Name or corporate name of direct 

unitholder 

Number of direct units % of total volume 

   

Total   

 

 Indicate the most relevant movements affecting the equity unit 

structure during the year. 

 

Name or corporate name of the unit holder Date of 

transaction 

Description of the transaction 

   

 

 

I.3. Complete the following tables on Directors who hold equity units in 

the savings bank. 
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Name Number of direct units Number of indirect units (*) % of total volume 

    

 

 (*) Through: 

 

Name or corporate name of direct unitholder Number of direct units 

  

Total  

 

 

% of total volume 0.000 

 

 

I.4. Complete the following tables on the treasury shares of the savings 

bank. 

 

 At year-end: 

 

Number of direct units Number of indirect shares % of total volume of shares 

   

 

 (*) Through: 

 

Corporate name of direct shareholder Number of direct units 

  

Total  

 

  

 

Result obtained in the year from transactions with treasury shares 

(in € thousands) 

0 

 

 

I.5. Detail the conditions and time limit/s under any authority given by the 

General Assembly to the Board of Directors to acquire or transfer the 

treasury shares indicated above. 
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J    DEGREE OF COMPLIANCE WITH CORPORATE GOVERNANCE RECOMMENDATIONS 

 

If, at the time this report was issued, there are no generally accepted corporate 

governance recommendations specifically tailored to the legal nature of Spanish 

savings banks, describe the corporate governance practices that the savings bank 

is legally obliged to comply with, and any additional practices that the savings 

bank has taken on. 

 

In the event that, at the time this report is prepared, there are generally accepted 

corporate governance recommendations specifically tailored to the legal nature of 

Spanish savings banks, indicate the degree to which the savings bank complies 

with existing corporate governance recommendations and, where appropriate, the 

degree to which it has not implemented these recommendations. 

 

In the event that the savings bank does not comply with any of these 

recommendations, explain the recommendations, rules, practices and criteria it 

applies. 

 

 At the time this report was drafted, there are no generally accepted corporate 

governance guidelines in place that take into account the legal nature of Savings Banks 

and the standards that regulate them.  As a result, this section details the corporate 

governance practices and standards the Savings Bank must apply given that its 

headquarters is in Catalonia and must act in accordance with the revised text of the Law 

governing the Catalonia Savings Bank sector approved by Decree-Laws 1/2008 and 

164/2008 regulating the procedures for appointing the members of the governing bodies 

of Savings Banks, the convening of meetings thereof and their activities. 

 

 The operating structure of the Savings Banks is established, in accordance with the law, 

in the form of three basic bodies, namely, the General Assembly, the Board of Directors 

and the Control Committee. 

 

 Pursuant to prevailing legislation, the General Assembly is the supreme governing and 

decision-making body of “la Caixa”. The General Assembly contains representatives of 

relevant stakeholder groups. The law governing the Catalonia Savings Bank sector 

divides these stakeholder groups into four sectors: 

 

 a) Depositors 

 

 b) Founding and community-interest institutions 
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 c) local government corporations 

 

 d) the Savings Bank’s employees 

 

 The first three sectors always relate to the geographical area in which “la Caixa” 

operates and this consideration is also implicit for the fourth sector. La Caja de Ahorros y 

Pensiones de Barcelona ha concretado en sus Estatutos los porcentajes de 

representación de la siguiente forma, sobre un total de miembros de la Asamblea de 160: 

 

 a) 64 General Assembly members representing deposit holders (40%); 

 

 b) 45 members representing the founding and community-interest institutions (28.12%); 

 

 c) 31 members representing local government corporations (19.37%); and 

 

 d) 20 members representing employees (12.5%). 

 

 At the Annual General Assembly held on April 28, 2011, the members agreed to modify 

the Entity's By-laws to reflect the indirect exercise of the financial activity through a 

vehicle bank (CaixaBank). Accordingly, the By-laws foresee that general directors 

representing depositors shall be elected among the depositors of the vehicle bank, while 

representatives of local authorities shall be selected among the authorities in the area in 

which the bank through which "la Caixa" indirectly carries out its financial activity has 

branch offices. General directors acting on behalf of personnel represent employees of 

both "la Caixa" and the vehicle bank. 

 

 As stipulated by law, the Board of Directors is the body appointed by the General 

Assembly to govern, manage and run the Savings Bank and is formed of a minimum of 10 

and a maximum of 21 members. Its composition must reflect the composition of the 

General Assembly. In the case of the Caixa d’Estalvis i Pensions de Barcelona, the Board 

comprises 21 members.  Given that it is the largest Savings Bank in Spain, it has opted 

for the maximum number of Board members - this also applies to the General Assembly - 

to ensure greater representation on the governing bodies, both from the point of view of 

the four stakeholder groups represented, and from a geographical standpoint given the 

regions in which the Group carries out its activities and the close relationship between 

savings banks and the region in which they operate, which is especially expressed in the 

distribution of its welfare projects. 

 

 The Control Committee is a supervisory body of the Board of Directors which is 

independent from the Board and is not subordinate to it. Its supervisory role not only 

encompasses financial issues but it also plays a significant part in the Savings Bank’s 

election processes. It may even recommend to the Ministry of Economy and Finance of 

the Generalitat de Catalunya the suspension of any Board resolutions it considers 
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contravene current legislation. Its composition must reflect the proportional representation 

of the various stakeholder groups in the General Assembly.  

 

 In addition to the above bodies, “la Caixa” has a CEO, who is the executive responsible 

by law for implementing the resolutions of the Board and carrying out the other functions 

assigned by the Savings Bank’s By-laws and regulations. The post of CEO is especially 

significant in that, although nominated by the Board, appointments and dismissals must 

be ratified by the General Assembly.  Also, according to Catalan legislation, the CEO has 

voting and speaking rights at Board meetings. 

 

 In accordance with the legal framework, there is thus a supreme body, the Assembly, in 

which all stakeholders are represented; an administrative body, the Board, which also 

reflects, in the same proportion as in the Assembly, the different stakeholder groups 

represented; a control body, the Control Committee, in which the different stakeholders 

are also represented in the same proportions as in the Assembly and which is 

independent of the Board. By law members are forbidden to hold two offices, in other 

words, they cannot be a member of the Board and of the Control Committee, and 

furthermore, no institution may have members on both the Board and the Control 

Committee. 

 

 There is therefore a differentiation between the various bodies with different functions, 

which means they are controlled and balanced, in line with good corporate governance 

practices. In addition, each one of these bodies has the appropriate weighting between 

the different groups, with the three governing bodies reflecting the same proportionality. 

 

 In addition to the above, and in accordance with prevailing legislation, there is an 

Appointments and Remuneration Committee and an Investment Committee which are 

Board committees. These Committees, in accordance with prevailing legislation, have 

three members, one of whom shall be the Chairman, with the CEO attending such 

meetings. 

 

 The Investment Committee shall inform the Board or Executive Committee of any 

investments or divestments which are strategic and stable as well as their financial 

viability and consistency with the Savings Bank’s budgets and strategic plans.  According 

to current legislation, “strategic” is understood to be the acquisition or divestment of a 

significant stake in a listed company or relates to business projects where the Savings 

Bank is involved in the management or governing bodies, provided the investment for the 

Savings Bank accounts for more than 3% of its eligible capital. 

 

 The Appointments and Remuneration Committees shall report on the general 

remuneration and bonus policy for the members of the Board of Directors, the Control 

Committee and Senior Management, as well as ensuring the observance of said policy. It 

shall also ensure that all members of the Board of Directors and the Control Committee, 

and the Chief Executive Officer comply with the requirements inherent in their office. 

Finally, it shall receive notifications regarding any conflicts of interest submitted by 

members of the governing bodies. 
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 The Caixa d’Estalvis i Pensions de Barcelona also has two Board committees: the 

Executive Committee, comprising the Chairman, Deputy Chairmen and four members, 

one for each stakeholder group represented in the Assembly, with full delegation of 

powers from the Board.  The other is the Welfare Projects Committee, which comprises 

the Chairman and eight Board members, in proportion to the groups represented on it, 

with functions that involve the management and administration of welfare projects.  

 

 It should be noted that the corporate governance requirements are not applicable to 

Savings Banks, as, given their status as foundations, there can be no directors 

representing major shareholders, and, furthermore all of the members belong to or 

represent a specific stakeholder group.  However, the deposit holders and local authority 

sectors may appoint up to two members of the Board of Directors each from among 

persons who are not members of the General Assembly but meet the stipulated 

professional requirements, provided this does not result in the removal from the Board of 

representatives of these groups who are also General Assembly members. 

 

 Under applicable legislation, the following persons shall be disqualified from holding 

office in the General Assembly and on the Board of Directors and Control Committee: 

 

 a) insolvents or undischarged bankrupts, as well as persons subject to judgments that 

disqualify them from holding public office. 

 

 b) those who breached their obligations to “la Caixa”, prior to or during their 

appointment to office. 

 

 c) Directors and members of the governing bodies of more than three business 

corporations or cooperatives, the CEOs, administrators, executive and non-executive 

board members, directors, managers, advisors and employees of other credit institutions 

of dependent companies, or of Caixa d'Estalvis i Pensions de Barcelona itself, or 

corporations or entities that promote, support or guarantee credit institutions or 

establishments. This includes the holders of posts in any commercial company, except: 

 

    -Where the post is held, in their own name or otherwise, on the direct or indirect 

recommendation of la Caixa d’Estalvis i Pensions de Barcelona itself, and is exercised in 

its interests. 

 

    -Where the post is held for the exclusive carrying out of the commercial or 

professional activities of the post holder. 

 

    -Where the post is in a company which does not carry out independent commercial 

activity on a regular basis and which belongs to a family group of which the post holder, 

his/her spouse, ascendants or descendants are members. 
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    -Where the post is in a company which belongs to other companies included in the 

calculation in accordance with the provisions of this article. 

 

 Notwithstanding the above rules, the members of the Board of Directors may not under 

any circumstances sit on the Board of more than eight commercial or cooperative 

companies, whether or not included in the limit established by those rules. 

 

 d) public servants with duties directly related to the activities of savings banks. 

 

 e) the Chairman of the founding institution or corporation. 

 

 f) those who have held the position of director or CEO for more than 20 years in “la 

Caixa” or in another entity which it has absorbed or been merged with. 

 

 g) those people in elected political office 

 

 h) those with senior government positions including regional and local government, as 

well public sector entities (created according to either public or private law) and related 

parties or subsidiaries 

 

 This incompatibility shall last for the two years subsequent to the date of the end of the 

term of office for senior officials in the event any one of the following two cases: 

 

    -Those senior officers, their superiors at their proposal, or the members of dependent 

bodies, by delegation or substitution, that have issued rulings regarding Savings Banks. 

 

    - Those who have been involved in meetings of collegiate bodies in which some or 

other agreements or decisions has been reached regarding Savings Banks. 

 

 In addition, general directors, members of the Board of Directors and of the Control 

Committee may not be linked to “la Caixa” or to companies in which it holds a stake of 

more than 25% through contracts for work, services, procurement or paid employment 

during the period in which they hold such office and in the two years following this period, 

except in the case of an employment relationship when they are members representing 

the employees. 

 

 As a securities-issuing entity, the Caixa d’Estalvis i Pensions de Barcelona is subject to 

the Internal Rules of Conduct of the Securities Market, as approved by the Board of 

Directors on July 19, 2012.   
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 Having set forth above the legal regime applicable to the governing bodies of Caixa 

d’Estalvis i Pensions de Barcelona, there follows a description of corporate governance 

measures adopted by the Savings Bank: 

 

 1) Savings banks are frequently accused of being subject to excessive political 

influence. To counter this, Caixa d’Estalvis i Pensions de Barcelona uses a system to 

elect the members of the General Assembly that represent deposit holders based on 

delegates drawn by lots from among the members in each electoral district, since a direct 

electoral system could distort the representation of these interests, there being very few 

organizations of the size of “la Caixa”, apart from political parties, that could organize 

candidatures and a genuine electoral campaign throughout the territory where they 

operate. The purpose of using a system of delegates elected from each electoral district is 

to prevent the election of deposit holders’ representatives from being affected by politics 

and to prevent excessive political influence on “la Caixa”. 

 

 2) With regard to the functions attributed by the Spanish Companies Law to the Audit 

Committee (a body appointed by the Board of Directors), in accordance with the By-laws 

of Caixa d’Estalvis i Pensions de Barcelona, the Savings Bank has opted to have such 

functions discharged by the Control Committee, since this body is independent from the 

Board of Directors.  This ensures thorough compliance with good governance guidelines. 

 

 3) The Savings Bank has chosen to establish a maximum age of 78 for members of the 

Board and Control Committee, although the member in question may continue in office 

until the first Annual General Assembly following their 78th birthday.  Furthermore, to 

avoid short-term appointments, members must be under 75 years of age when elected. 

 

 4) The By-laws of Caixa d’Estalvis i Pensions de Barcelona also stipulate that persons 

belonging to the Board of Directors or Control Committee of another savings bank or 

financial or credit institution are disqualified from taking a seat on the the Savings Bank’s 

Board of Directors. 

 

 Public or private entities and local authorities represented on the Board of Directors or 

the Control Committee of another savings bank may not have the same representatives 

on the Control Committee of Caixa d’Estalvis i Pensions de Barcelona. 

 

 Lastly, in line with corporate governance recommendations, on July 1, 2011 "la Caixa" 

signed a protocol governing internal relations with CaixaBank, a listed company. The 

protocol primarily aims to: 

 

 a) develop the basic principles that should govern relations between "la Caixa" and 

CaixaBank, in that the latter is the instrument through which the former indirectly carries 

on its financial activities; 
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 b) delimit CaixaBank’s main fields of activities, taking into account its nature as the bank 

through which “la Caixa” indirectly carries on its financial activities; 

 

 c) define the general parameters that are to govern any business or services 

relationship that CaixaBank Group companies may have with “la Caixa” Group 

companies; and, particularly, owing to their importance, the provision of property services 

by one or more companies of 'la Caixa' to the company or property companies of 

CaixaBank.  

 

 d) govern the proper flow of information to permit “la Caixa” -and, insofar as is 

necessary, CaixaBank too- to draw up its financial statements and to meet its period 

reporting and oversight duties with regard to the Bank of Spain, the CNMV and other 

regulatory bodies. 

 

 In accordance with these aims, the Protocol regulates the principles and objectives, the 

indirect exercise of the financing activity, and main areas of activity of the CaixaBank 

Group, intragroup operations and services, the rendering of real-estate services, 

information flows and the monitoring of said Protocol. The Protocol may be obtained from 

the websites of the Spanish National Securities Market Commission (www.cnmv.es) and 

CaixaBank (www.criteriacaixacorp.es). 

 

K    OTHER INFORMATION OF INTEREST 

 

If you consider that there are any material principles or aspects related to the 

corporate governance practices followed by your organization that have not been 

addressed in this report, specify and explain below. 

 

 This section contains comments and aspects related to this annual corporate 

governance report that are designed to extend the information provided and clarify its 

contents. 

 

 -Non-mandatory sections. 

 

 The following sections of this Report have not been completed, since they are not 

mandatory as no equity units have been issued, in accordance with Circular 2/2005 from 

the Spanish securities market regulator (CNMV): 

 

    -In section A.1.1, the date of appointment of the general directors. 

 

    -In section A.2.1, the identity of the members of the Board who do not hold the status 

of general directors. 
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    -In section A.2.11, the number of meetings of the Board not attended by the 

Chairman. 

 

    - Sections A.2.18; A.2.20; A.2.21; A.2.32 and A.2.35. 

 

    -Sections F.3; F.4 and F.5 

 

    -Section H.4 

 

    -Heading I, concerning equity units. 

 

 -Explanatory note to sections A.1.1 and A.1.2 

 

 Articles 15 and 16 of the revised text of the Law governing the Catalonia savings banks 

sector approved by Decree-Law 1/2008, of March 11, stipulates that one of the groups to 

be represented in the General Assembly must be founding institutions/persons and 

community-interest institutions. In accordance with the Regulations for the appointment of 

members of the governing bodies, of the 45 general directors representing this group, 20 

are elected by the founding institutions - the Ateneo Barcelonés, the Instituto Agrícola 

Catalán de San Isidro, the Sociedad Económica Barcelonesa de Amigos del País, the 

Cámara de Industria, Comercio y Navegación de Barcelona and Fomento del Trabajo 

Nacional (they are entitled to four each) while the remaining 25 are elected by the 

community-interest institutions as stipulated in the By-laws, appointed by the General 

Assembly at the proposal of the Board of Directors.  The Board of Directors selects 28 

institutions which, in its opinion, meet the conditions of being well established in the 

Savings Bank’s territorial operating area, especially its home base, with significant social 

or economic representation, and proposes them to the Savings Bank’s General Assembly 

for inclusion in the By-laws through an amendment thereof. 

 

 In accordance with the above, within the scope of Catalan legislation, the components 

of the group of founding institutions and those of the group of community-interest 

institutions form the same stakeholder group. 

 

 For the purpose of providing the most accurate information possible, we have opted to 

expressly refer to the group of founding and community-interest institutions.  For this 

reason no delegates appear in the stakeholder group intended exclusively for the 

founding persons or institutions. 

 

 This clarification should be applied to all the other sections of the Report that list the 

numerical and percentage composition of the Savings Bank’s various governing bodies, 



Page 102 

such as section A.2.1, concerning the Board of Directors and section A.3.1, concerning 

the Control Committee. 

 

 -Explanatory note to section A.1.2 

 

 The composition of the General Assembly specified in this section is that at December 

31, 2012. Subsequent to that date, Carlos Cuatrecasas Targa and Margarita Orfila Pons 

were appointed, both in representation of the founding institutions and the community-

interest institutions.  

 

 -Explanatory note to section A.1.4 

 

 No regulations have been approved for the General Assembly since the detailed 

regulation of its operation in the By-laws render this unnecessary. 

 

 -Explanatory note to section A.2.4 

 

 It should be stated that no director has powers delegated by the Board of Directors, 

except concerning the execution of resolutions previously adopted by the Board itself. 

 

 The CEO has a range of powers which, in accordance with the Revised Text of the Law 

governing the Catalonia savings banks sector approved by Legislative Decree 1/1994, of 

April 6, are specified in article 21 section 4 of the By-laws as follows:  

 

 "“The functions of the CEO, who shall perform them in accordance with the instructions 

and guidelines from the Board of Directors, are as follows: 

 

 4.1. The position of senior manager of all the employees of the “Caixa d’Estalvis i 

Pensions de Barcelona”, and in this role and capacity, arrange the necessary allocation of 

services and appropriations to ensure they are duly covered and attended to, proposing to 

the competent body those variations in the workforce deemed necessary and safeguard 

compliance with current employment legislation. 

 

 4.2. The management and implementation of all activities that pertain to the Savings 

Bank’s business and operations. 

 

 4.3. To be the Savings Bank’s administrative signatory for all kinds of correspondence 

and documentation, as well as for the transfer of funds and securities, opening and 

settling current accounts, arranging and cancelling deposits of any kind in Savings Banks, 

banks and credit and/or deposit establishments, including the Bank of Spain, and, in 
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general, be the Savings Bank's signatory in its dealings with the authorities and official 

bodies. 

 

 4.4. To study and foster the implementation of all nature of operations and services, 

seeking, as appropriate, their approval by the corresponding governing body. 

 

 4.5. To prepare the necessary or convenient plans, budgets and/or means for attaining 

those goals the “Caixa d’Estalvis i Pensions de Barcelona” sets out to achieve, in 

accordance with the guidelines previously laid down by the competent governing bodies, 

and submit them, if necessary, for their approval. 

 

 4.6. To advise the Assembly, Board and Committees. 

 

 4.7. To study, draft and submit proposals to the Board and its Committees. 

 

 4.8. To implement the resolutions reached by the governing bodies and those reached, 

within the scope of its powers, by the Executive Committee. 

 

 4.9. To request a meeting of the Control Committee in the cases stipulated in article 

24.8. 

 

 4.10. To prepare and draft the notes to the Savings Bank's financial statements, 

balance sheet and financial statements at the end of each year, for their consideration by 

the Board. 

 

 4.11. To issue the orders and instructions deemed convenient for the proper 

organization and efficient running of the Savings Bank, with the corresponding duty of 

supervising, inspecting and managing all departments, offices and services in general, in 

permanent representation of the governing bodies. 

 

 4.12. To organize and supervise the Savings Bank’s accounts. 

 

 4.13. To adopt and introduce extraordinary or exceptional measures, deemed urgent or 

necessary and convenient, within the scope of the services and operations or of the 

management and administration of the assets or equity of the “Caixa d’Estalvis i Pensions 

de Barcelona” or of third parties, regarding which the Chairman is to be accountable at 

the next meeting to be held of the Board of Directors or of the Executive Committee. 

 

 4.14. To delegate the powers pertaining to the office, as well as those of a general or 

specific nature that have been delegated to them, when expressly authorized to do so. 
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 4.15. All those duties particular to the management of a business.” 

 

 The procedural regulations on the appointment of the members of the governing bodies 

also empower this person to verify compliance with the conditions of eligibility of the 

general directors from the depositors group and to request that the Board of Directors 

resolve any issues that may arise. 

 

 Without prejudice to these specific functions, the CEO of the Savings Bank carries out a 

series of delegated functions, which are briefly detailed below: 

 

 1. By agreement of the Board of Directors on July 19, 2012 he was granted a general 

power of attorney to resolve any matter, of an urgent nature, which may arise until the 

next meeting of the Board of Directors, being accountable for the resolutions adopted. 

 

 2. By agreement of the Board of Directors on September 20, 2007, he was granted 

powers on specific matters such as those of representing the Savings Bank, those 

specific to the corporate purpose, transactions with the Bank of Spain and other public 

and private credit institutions, deposits and guarantees, ordinary administration of assets, 

acquisition and disposal of assets, securities market and capital market and management 

and correspondence.  

 

 The same agreement authorized the CEO to grant the corresponding powers of 

attorney to employees of “la Caixa”, conferring on them joint or several powers 

concerning the matters listed in the previous paragraph and establishing, for each of 

them, quantitative limits and the method of action for each level. 

 

 Finally, the CEO was authorized to grant powers of attorney to third parties from outside 

the Savings Bank’s organization and vest in them those powers deemed appropriate, 

including those of substituting or delegating power of attorney, being able to revoke all 

nature of powers. 

 

 -Explanatory note to section A.2.16 

 

 Notwithstanding the response given, we hereby note that as part of the ICFR System, 

the financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2012, which form part of the 

annual accounts, are certified by the Entity’s Finance Director. 

 

 -Explanatory note to sections B and C 
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 Due to the requirements of the software program used to draft this report, there are no 

details of credits for amounts of less than €1,000. Furthermore, it is hereby stated that the 

amounts have been subject to rounding up or down, depending on whether or not they 

exceed the sum of five hundredths. 

 

 -Explanatory note to sections B.1.and B.2 

 

 Those transactions undertaken with family members of the Board or Control Committee 

also include those undertaken with companies linked to the same. 

 

 -Explanatory note to section B.4 

 

 The situation of those credits existing at December 31, 2012 with political parties 

include the data derived from the integration of the financial business of Banca Cívica, 

S.A. 

 

 -Explanatory note to section D.5 

 

 The information in this section refers to the balances of transactions at December 31, 

2012 and includes, as appropriate, the amounts drawn down and available. 

 

 -Explanatory note to section E.1 

 

 There follows a description of the Group’s business structure: 

 

Caixa d’Estalvis i Pensions de Barcelona, “la Caixa” was incorporated on July 27, 1990 by 

the merger of Caja de Ahorros y Monte de Piedad de Barcelona, founded in 1844 and 

Caja de Pensiones para la Vejez y de Ahorros de Cataluña y Baleares, founded in 1904. 

“la Caixa” is a financial institution which is subject to Legislative Decree 1/2008, of March 

11, on Catalan Savings Banks and is recorded in the special register of the Catalan 

Regional Government, the Generalitat.  As a savings bank, “la Caixa” is a non-profit 

foundational financial institution serving the community. It does not belong to any other 

company and it engages in attracting, managing and investing the savings entrusted to it.  

 

 2. “la Caixa” Group 

 

 On June 30, 2011, as part of the restructuring of the Group, "la Caixa" transferred its 

banking business (except for certain assets, mainly real estate, and certain liabilities) to 

Criteria CaixaCorp, now CaixaBank, a banking group, and the latter transferred to "la 
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Caixa" part of its industrial shareholdings and newly-issued shares for a total amount of 

€2,044 million euros. 

 

 CaixaBank, the majority shareholder of which is "la Caixa" (72.8%), is a leader in the 

Spanish market in both finance and insurance. The bank is also diversifying into other 

complementary activities, such as holdings in international banks and in Telefónica and 

Repsol. 

 

 ”la Caixa” implements, through Criteria CaixaHolding (as solely-owned company), a 

strategy of acquiring shareholdings in various key economic sectors for the community, 

including Abertis (transport and communications infrastructure management), Gas Natural 

Fenosa (energy distribution), Aguas de Barcelona (water distribution), SABA (car park 

and logistic park management) and Servihabitat XXI (real estate services). 

 

  The welfare projects of "la Caixa" are the essential and differential feature of the Group. 

Their mission is to return part of the Group's financial earnings in the form of supportive 

social initiatives in order to offer solutions to new challenges and needs.  The goals of the 

welfare projects include contributing to sustainable social transformation and the creation 

of opportunities for people. 

 

 The Group's structure enables it to adapt to new Spanish and international regulatory 

requirements, while safeguarding "la Caixa"'s social welfare objectives and the 

continuation of the Group's businesses. 

 

 2.1. Banking business: CaixaBank 

 

 The core business of CaixaBank is the provision of retail financial services (attraction of 

customer funds and granting of credits, together with the provision of all types of banking 

services:  direct credit of salaries, payment methods, securities transactions, etc.) with 

commercial management adapted to customer requirements.  

 

 In 2012, CaixaBank completed the integration of Banca Cívica which, combined with 

intense commercial activity, enabled it to consolidate its leading position in the Spanish 

market with assets of €348,294 million and a market share of 26.1%, or 22.2% in terms of 

customers that use CaixaBank as their primary bank. The total banking business volume 

stands at €512,017 million.  

 

 The total market share in lending stood at 13.4% of the total system, while the market 

share in total deposits stood at 13.7%. CaixaBank has a 20.0% market share in direct 

credit of salaries and 19.9% in direct credit of pensions. 

 

 As a benchmark institution for household and corporate banking, "la Caixa" applies 

appropriate segmentation and multi-channel management to its client relationships, 
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ensuring specialized, professional and quality service. The banking business strategy is 

based on an extensive distribution system in the form of a wide-reaching branch network. 

This is the basic tool for forging relationships and maintaining close ties with customers, 

reinforced by the development of additional communication channels.  

 

  The branch network and human resources are the basic pillars of CaixaBank’s 

considerable commercial business, which had 6,342 branches and a headcount of 32,625 

at December 31, 2012. The multi-channel management strategy takes advantage of the 

new technologies to bring quality banking services closer to all users and make them 

more accessible through innovative services available anywhere, at any time. 

Accordingly, CaixaBank has the most extensive ATM network (9,696) in the Spanish 

financial system and is the leader in online (8.5 million Línea Abierta customers) in e-

banking (12.5 cards).   

 

 2.1.1. Investments in the financial and insurance sector  

 

 a) Insurance  

 

 VidaCaixa Grupo (100% subsidiary) is a holding company owned by CaixaBank for 

interests in companies that operate in the insurance sector. 

 

 Vida Caixa (100% subsidiary), which focuses on the life and pension plans segment, has 

become the benchmark operator in the complementary pensions market in Spain, with 

over €41,000 million under management. It offers a wide range of custom-designed life 

insurance and pension plans to nearly 3 million individuals, companies and public 

institutions.  In addition to its savings products, VidaCaixa offers risk-life insurance to 

individuals and businesses. This line covers more than 1 million individual customers, as 

well as numerous groups and companies. 

 

 SegurCaixa Adeslas (49.9% owned), through its strategic alliance with Mutua 

Madrileña, is at the forefront of the Spanish health insurance market, while also enjoying 

a strong position in home and automobile insurance and offering a wide range of products 

for SMEs and self-employed workers. 

 

 b) Specialized financial services  

 

 InverCaixa (100%) is the Group's Collective Investment Schemes (CIS) management 

company, overseeing a wide range of products: investment funds, SICAVs, and portfolios. 

At December 31, the company recorded a volume under management of €15,766 million, 

boasting an investment fund market shares of 12.1%.  
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 GestiCaixa (100%) manages asset securitization, handling 24 securitization funds at 

December 31, 2012 with a volume of bonds in circulation of approximately €12,270 

million.  

 

 Finconsum (100%) offers consumer financing products, mainly through points of sale 

(goods and services distributors as well as auto dealers)  

 

 CaixaRenting (100%) arranges equipment lease financing. The company operates 

through the branch network and the main business channel, with a business volume 

(equipment and property rentals) of €96 million in 2012. By virtue of the agreement 

subscribed in December 2010 with Arval (BNP Paribas Group), “la Caixa” continues to 

market the financial leasing of vehicles under the CaixaRenting brand through its branch 

network, with Arval providing customer service. 

 

 Bolsas y Mercados Españoles (BME) (5.01%) integrates the securities registration, 

clearing and settlement systems and the Spanish secondary markets.  

 

 Credifimo (100% owned) offers consumer financing products. 

 

 CaixaCard, SA (100%), manages "la Caixa"'s card business, with the objective of 

broadening and improving such products and services and maintaining leadership and 

innovation in new payment technologies (NFC wireless technology, CaixaWallet). 

 

 CaixaBank Electronic Money EDE, S.L. (Money to Pay) (100%), created by CaixaBank 

in September 2012, is the first entity in Spain that specializes in prepaid cards. Through it, 

"la Caixa" manages the prepaid card segment with the objective of broadening and 

improving the range of prepaid products and services, and of adding new channels 

(shopping centers, large retailers, kiosks and shops).   

 

 Comercia Global Payments, Entidad de Pago, S.L. (49% owned) provides payment 

services consisting of the issue and acquisition of payment instruments; specifically, in 

managing retail payment processes with credit cards and dataphones. 

 

 c) Support companies and other entities 

 

 The Group encompasses a number of subsidiaries whose main objective is to provide 

support services.  

 

 E-la Caixa (100%) is responsible for managing and developing CaixaBank's 

multichannel approach, providing customers with electronic channels. It researches and 

rolls out new functionalities and solutions to ensure the channels form an integral part of 
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the relations between the organization and its customers. It is also in charge of the 

commercial management of remote channels, remaining in constant contact with the 

branch network. It provides direct customer support in relation to using the channels, by 

telephone, email or online tools. e-laCaixa also provides its services to other group 

companies and manages participation in multichannel initiatives that provide cutting-edge 

services and value to the traditional banking activity. 

 

 Silk Aplicaciones (100%) is responsible for managing the Group's technology 

architecture and providing IT services to CaixaBank and its subsidiaries, and for the 

international expansion of this architecture. Its subsidiary, Silc Immobles (100%), 

manages the new data processing center, which houses the Group's data processing 

equipment and infrastructure. The Group also holds a 49% interest in IT Now through a 

strategic alliance with IBM. 

 

 GDS-Cusa (100%) provides services related to the management of default risk and the 

centralized treatment of certain operating services of CaixaBank.  

 

 Sumasa (100%) manages on behalf of CaixaBank and the "la Caixa" Group companies 

services relating to the construction and maintenance of buildings and premises, and their 

facilities, certain supplies, and operating a marketplace through an in-house IT platform. 

 

 Promocaixa (100%) is responsible for managing promotional and customer loyalty 

programs, purchasing promotional items and performing other marketing activities. 

 

 Trade Caixa (100%) provides administrative and accounting services to some of the 

Group's support companies and participates in the management of the reporting process 

and controlling the securities portfolio of CaixaBank. 

 

 BuildingCenter (100%) performs property investments and sells, administrates and 

manages properties linked to CaixaBank's activity and its own properties. 

 

 Sociedad de Gestión de Activos Procedentes de la Reestructuración Bancaria (Sareb) 

(12.3%), incorporated in 2012, has as its primary aim the management and orderly 

divestment of the loan and real estate portfolio received from nationalized Spanish 

financial institutions or institutions that have received public assistance.  

 

 CaixaBank holds the following interests in the microcredit sector and in venture capital 

companies supporting entrepreneurs and innovative initiatives: 

 

 MicroBank (100%) is a social-minded bank and the only bank in Spain exclusively 

dedicated to microlending, in order to foster this socioeconomic contribution while 

ensuring the same quality and sustainability parameters as for any banking institution.  



Page 110 

 

 Caixa Capital Risc (100% owned by CaixaBank) is CaixaBank's venture capital 

management company. With a volume of €73 million, it invests in innovative companies 

with a high growth potential through four funds: Caixa Capital Micro (€8 million), Caixa 

Capital BioMed (€22 million), Caixa Capital TIC (€20 million) and Caixa Innvierte Industria 

(€23 million). 

 

 Caixa Emprendedor XXI (100%) carries out actions and initiatives aimed at promoting 

entrepreneurship, the creation of companies and innovation in Spain. Such actions and 

initiatives include programs to create and support companies in the life sciences, digital 

technologies and clean technologies; and the Premio Emprendedor XXI, which identifies, 

awards and supports innovative companies with a high potential for growth in Spain. 

 

 2.1.2. Diversification  

 

 In order to diversify its risks and revenues, take advantage of new opportunities, and 

provide quality service to clients around the globe, CaixaBank holds interests in banking 

institutions at the forefront of their respective markets and segments. CaixaBank also 

maintains stakes in service-sector companies that offer a strong international presence, 

high capacity to grow and generate value, and an attractive shareholder remuneration 

policy. 

 

 a) International banking  

 

 Banco BPI (46.22%) is a global financial group dealing in commercial banking and 

aimed at business, institutional and private customers.  It is the third largest Portuguese 

private financial group in terms of turnover and  boasts total assets of over €44,000 million 

and a branch network of more than 740 offices in Portugal and over 160 in Angola.  

 

 Boursorama (20.7%) was incorporated in 1995 and is one of the main brokers in 

Europe.  It is part of the Société Générale Group, with total assets nearing €4,000 million. 

Boursorama operates in four countries, and is the market leader in France in online 

financial information. It is one of the leading brokers in Great Britain and Spain, and it is 

present in Germany through OnVista. Within the framework of a joint venture with 

Boursorama, CaixaBank holds a 49% interest in the online bank Self Bank in Spain.  

 

 Grupo Financiero Inbursa (20.0%) holds nearly €20,000 million in assets, more than 

300 offices, more than 6,700 employees and a network of approximately 14,000 financial 

advisors. It is the sixth-largest financial group in Mexico in terms of total assets and one of 

the largest in terms of market capitalization in Latin America.  Founded in 1965, it 

provides commercial banking services, in which it is a standard bearer, retail banking, 

asset management, life assurance and non-life insurance and pensions, as well as 

stockbroking and the custody of securities.  It is currently the leading financial group in the 

country in the administration and custody of assets and one of the best positioned in 

insurances and pension funds.  
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 The Bank of East Asia (BEA) (16.4%), founded in 1918, has nearly €60,000 million in 

assets, more than 210 branches and over 11,600 employees.  It is the leading 

independent private bank in Hong Kong and one of the best positioned foreign banks in 

China, where through its subsidiary BEA China it has a network of more than 110 

branches that is currently undergoing expansion.  

 

 Erste Group Bank (9.9%) was founded in 1819 as Austria’s first Savings Bank. It was 

floated in 1997 to develop the retail banking business in Central and Eastern Europe. It is 

currently Austria’s second largest banking group and one of the leading groups in Central 

and Eastern Europe with total assets of approximately €216,000 million. Outside Austria, 

Ertse Bank controls banks in seven countries (the Czech Republic, Romania, Slovakia, 

Hungary, Croatia, Serbia and Ukraine) and is the market leader in the Czech Republic, 

Romania and Slovakia. It has 17 million customers and runs more than 3,000 branches.  

 

 b) Industrial holdings 

 

 Repsol YPF (12.46%) is an integrated energy company with extensive experience in the 

sector, with activities of exploration, production, refining, marketing and new energies, 

and it is present in more than 30 countries.  Repsol has consolidated its status as one of 

the leading energy companies in exploration. Its intense exploration campaign has 

resulted in significant discoveries in recent years. Repsol has over €65,000 million of 

assets. 

 

 Telefónica (5.55%) is one of the world’s leading integrated telecommunications 

companies, with a presence in in 25 countries of Europe and Latin America.  It had a base 

of more than 313 million customers at September 2012. Telefónica has one of the most 

international profiles in the sector, as more than 76% of its business comes from outside 

the Spanish market. In Latin America, with 210 million customers, it is the leader in Brazil, 

Argentina, Chile and Peru, and it has significant operations in Colombia, Costa Rica, 

Ecuador, El Salvador, Guatemala, México, Nicaragua, Panama, Puerto Rico, Uruguay 

and Venezuela. In Europe, the company operates in Spain, UK, Germany, Ireland, the 

Czech Republic and Slovakia, serving over 102 million customers.  

 

 2.2. Criteria CaixaHolding  

 

 Criteria CaixaHolding, a wholly-owned subsidiary of “la Caixa”, maintains the rest of the 

“la Caixa” Group's corporate investments. These industrial investments are primarily in 

the services and real-estate sectors.   

 

 2.2.1. Services  

 

  Gas Natural Fenosa (34.96%) is one of the leading multinational companies in the gas 

and electricity sector,  operating in 25 countries with over 20 million customers and 15.4 
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gigawatts of installed power.  Today, Gas Natural Fenosa is the largest integrated gas 

and electricity company in Spain and Latin America, leading the natural gas sales market 

in the Iberian Peninsula and the biggest distributor of natural gas in Latin America. It is 

also a leading operator in LNG (liquid natural gas) and natural gas from the Atlantic and 

Mediterranean basins. The company has over €45,000 million of total assets. 

 

 Abertis (22.55%) has become a world leader in the sector of motorway management 

following its acquisition of the assets of OHL in Brazil and Chile in December 2012, with 

more than 7,000 km of managed toll road and total assets of more than €28,000 million. 

In recent years, Abertis has further diversified its operations, both geographically and in 

terms of business sectors, in motorways, telecommunications and airports. It is estimated 

that more than 60% of its EBITDA in 2013 will be generated outside Spain. 

 

 Aguas de Barcelona (24.1%) is an international benchmark  in the field of water 

services and environment. With a total asset volume of €5,700 million, it is the leading 

private operator in the Spanish urban water management sector, supplying water to over 

1,000 towns. Agbar provides services to around 26 million inhabitants in Spain, Algeria, 

Chile, Colombia, Cuba, Mexico, Peru, the United Kingdom, Brazil, Turkey and the United 

States. This is an indirect interest through a direct stake of 24.26% in Hisusa, Holding de 

Infraestructuras y Servicios Urbanos, SA, owner of 99.04% of the share capital of 

Sociedad General de Aguas de Barcelona, SA. 

 

 Saba Infraestructuras (50.1%) was created through the spin-off of Abertis' car park and 

logistics operations in October 2011. Saba is the leading car park operator in Spain and 

one of the largest in Europe, with 190 car parks and 140 thousand parking spaces. It has 

operations is more than 79 cities and towns in Spain, Italy, Chile, Portugal, France and 

Andorra.     The logistics business, comprising 667 hectares, is dedicated to promoting, 

developing, designing, managing and operating logistics parks in Spain, Portugal, Chile 

and France.  

 

 Mediterránea Beach & Golf Community (100%) owns several assets adjacent to Port 

Aventura: three golf courses, developed land for residential and commercial use in a 

beach club. 

 

 Vithas (hospital group) (20.0%) is the new name of a private hospital group that 

presently has 10 hospitals and a supply platform (PlazaSalud24). Vithas is planning to 

progressively incorporate new hospitals and specialized centers to the group and it has a 

permanent commitment to invest in upgrading infrastructure and technology. 

 

 2.2.2. Real-estate  

 

 Criteria CaixaHolding operates in the real-estate market primarily through Servihabitat 

XXI (100%).  This company engages in property investment and the provision of property 

services to the Group and to third parties. It develops, manages, administers and sells 

property linked to the Group’s activities, its own property and that of third parties.  
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 2.3. “la Caixa”'s Habitatge Assequible (Affordable Housing) social welfare program 

 

 The Habitatge Assequible program is carried out through Foment Immobiliari 

Assequible (100%), Arrendament Immobiliari Assequible (100%) and Arrendament 

Immobiliari Assequible II (100%), direct investees of "la Caixa". This initiative forms part of 

"la Caixa"'s welfare projects for developing and renting out quality homes at affordable 

prices.  

 

 -Explanatory note to section E.2 

 

 CaixaBank has 16 branches outside Spain: in Warsaw, Bucharest and Casablanca, and 

thirteen representative offices  in Frankfurt, London, Milan, Paris, Stuttgart, Beijing, Dubai, 

Istanbul, New Delhi, Shanghai, Singapore, Cairo and Santiago de Chile. 

 

 -Explanatory note to section E.3 

 

 María Teresa Bassons and Ana María Calvo resigned their post as directors of Criteria 

CaixaHolding on May 22, 2012. Miquel Noguer resigned his post as director of CaixaBank 

on June 26, 2012. 

 

 -Explanatory note to sections G.1.and G.2 

 

  a) On March 8, 2012, the Investment Committee issued a favorable opinion on the early 

redemption of five subordinated debt issues of "la Caixa" amounting to €180,194 

thousand. The redemption was carried out on April 13, 2012. 

 

 b) On March 22, 2012, the Investment Committee reported favorably on the execution 

of transactions on Telefónica, S.A. (with maintenance of an interest of more than 5%) 

consisting of the following: (i) the sale of any shares received in the scrip dividend 

program, (ii) the sale of up to 0.5% of the capital, either directly in the market or through 

the market or through equity swap contracts or similar instruments, (iii) the purchase of up 

to 0.5% of the capital, either directly in the market or through equity swap contracts or 

similar instruments, and the possibility of disposing of hedging instruments contracted in a 

second phase depending on market conditions and the needs of the "la Caixa" Group. 

 

 On May 10, 2012, the Investment Committee reported favorably on increasing by 0.5% of 

the share capital the authorization to buy and sell referred to in the preceding paragraph. 

At December 31, 2012, the stake in Telefónica, S.A. amounted to 5.60% of the share 

capital. 
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  c) On June 7, 2012, the Investment Committee reported favorably on the swap of debt of 

CaixaBank for convertible bonds of the Prisa Group.   The transaction was executed on 

July 6, 2012 for €100,000 thousand. 

 

 d) On September 6, 2012, the Investment Committee reported favorably on the granting 

to Veremonte of a purchase option on the land of the Mediterránea Beach & Golf 

Community, S.A.U. for a maximum period of two years, with a premium of €1,000 

thousand and a sale price of €377,000 thousand.   

 

 e) On November 23 and 27, 2012, the Investment Committee reported favorably on the 

submission by CaixaBank of a binding bid to the Fund for Orderly Bank Restructuring 

(FROB) for the acquisition of all the shares it holds in Banco de Valencia, S.A. The 

transaction was made public by CaixaBank through a Significant Event filing on 

November 27, 2012.  

 

 f) On November 27, 2012, the Investment Committee reported favorably on the signing 

by Vidacaixa, S.A. of a reinsurance contract on its personal risk-life insurance portfolio 

with Berkshire Hathaway Life Insurance Company of Nebraska. Under the transaction, 

made public as a Significant Event filing of CaixaBank on November 30, VidaCaixa 

received a reinsurance commission of €600,000 thousand.   

 

  g) On November 27, the Investment Committee reported favorably on the CaixaBank 

investment in Sociedad de Gestión de Activos Procedentes de la Reestructuración 

Bancaria (SAREB). Under the transaction, made public as a Significant Event filing on 

December 13, 2012 and presently under execution, an investment of up to €606,000 

thousand has been committed (25% capital and 75% subordinated debt).  

 

 h) On November 27, 2012, the Investment Committee reported favorably on the sale 

and leaseback through which CaixaBank sold 439 of its properties for bank branches for a 

€428,200 thousand and signed a lease on the same. The transaction was made public 

through a Significant Event filing on December 18, 2012.  

 

 -Explanatory note to section H 

 

 Due to the requirements of the software program used for drafting this report, the 

amounts stated have been rounded up or down depending on whether or not they exceed 

the sum of five hundredths. 

 

 -Explanatory note to section H.1 

 

 At December 31, 2012,  “la Caixa” had nine senior executives holding the following 

positions at the savings bank: CEO, Deputy Executive CEO, six Executive Directors and 
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the General Secretary. At December 31, 2012, the senior management of CaixaBank 

comprised 8 executives. 

 

 -Explanatory notes to sections H.2 and H.3 

 

 a) Given that this report forms part of the Management Report, for the purpose of the 

possible effects of comparison with the information in the notes to the financial 

statements, it is hereby stated that the amounts in this section do not include the 

attendance allowances corresponding to the Executive Committee and to the Welfare 

Projects Committee, which amount to €85.2 and €65.25 thousand, respectively. 

 

 b) Pursuant to Law 14/2006 of July 27, of the Generalitat de Catalunya, the 

Extraordinary General Assembly of the Savings Bank voted to amend By-laws on October 

19, 2006, whereby the position of Chairman shall be remunerated and that if this is the 

only position this person occupies, the sum of the salary shall be at least 50%, albeit not 

exceeding 100%, more than the CEO’s salary. In accordance with the abovementioned 

amendment of the By-laws, the Board meeting of November 16, 2006, resolved that the 

Chairman would hold this office and no other.  The salary accrued by Isidro Fainé Casas, 

in his capacity as Chairman during 2012 was €2,678 million. Where applicable, this 

remuneration includes any amounts received from subsidiaries, and other entities in 

which the Chairman represents “la Caixa” or has been designated by or on behalf of “la 

Caixa” with no sum received under the item of attendance allowances. 

 

 c) Remuneration disclosed in section H.3 does not include amounts paid to the 

Chairman, which are reported in the preceding section b). 

 

This annual corporate governance report was adopted by the Savings Bank‟s 

Board of Directors at a meeting held on 21.02.13. 

 

 List any directors that voted against, or abstained from voting, on the adoption of 

this report. 

 

 

Abstentions/votes against Name of Directors 
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ADDENDUM TO APPENDIX I 

 

 

 

A.1. GENERAL ASSEMBLY 

 

A.1.1. GENERAL ASSEMBLY MEMBERS 

 

GENERAL ASSEMBLY MEMBERS 

 

Name of member Member class Date of appointment 

AGUILAR VILA, ALEJANDRO FOUNDING AND COMMUNITY-

INTEREST INSTITUTIONS  

 

AIXALÀ COLL, LÍDIA LOCAL AUTHORITIES  

ALAMEDA BELMONTE, LUIS ENRIQUE EMPLOYEES  

ALCAINA GÁZQUEZ, PEDRO ANTONIO LOCAL AUTHORITIES  

ALONSO MARTÍNEZ, FERMÍN DEPOSITORS  

ALTUNA OLASAGASTI, MIGUEL DEPOSITORS  

AMOEDO TABOAS, ESTRELLA DEPOSITORS  

ANDRÉS GASPAR, DANIEL DE DEPOSITORS  

ARIAS BLÁNQUEZ, MAX FOUNDING AND COMMUNITY-

INTEREST INSTITUTIONS  

 

ARTAL MORILLO, XAVIER FOUNDING AND COMMUNITY-

INTEREST INSTITUTIONS  

 

AUÑÓN GARCÍA, JOSÉ DEPOSITORS  

AURIN PARDO, EVA DEPOSITORS  

AZPELETA GARCÍA, ENRIQUE EMPLOYEES  

AZUARA GONZÁLEZ, JOSEP LOCAL AUTHORITIES  

BÁEZ CONTRERAS, FRANCISCO JAVIER EMPLOYEES  

BALLESTEROS BIELSA, FELICIANO EMPLOYEES  

BAÑOS CAPEL, JUAN DEPOSITORS  
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BARBER WILLEMS, VICTÒRIA DEPOSITORS  

BARQUERO CABRERO, JOSÉ DANIEL DEPOSITORS  

BARRABIA AGUILERA, MIQUEL ÀNGEL FOUNDING AND COMMUNITY-

INTEREST INSTITUTIONS  

 

BASSONS BONCOMPTE, MARIA TERESA FOUNDING AND COMMUNITY-

INTEREST INSTITUTIONS  

 

BATALLA SISCART, ALBERT LOCAL AUTHORITIES  

BATCHILLERIA GRAU, SANTIAGO LOCAL AUTHORITIES  

BENAVENT TORRIJOS, JOSEFA DEPOSITORS  

BENET MARTÍ, ROSA MARIA CINTA DEPOSITORS  

BERTOMEU VALLÉS, ANTONI JOAN LOCAL AUTHORITIES  

BOYA QUINTANA, JOSÉ ANTONIO DEPOSITORS  

BRUACH GALIAN, Mª DEL CARMEN G. FOUNDING AND COMMUNITY-

INTEREST INSTITUTIONS  

 

CABRA MARTORELL, MONTSERRAT DEPOSITORS  

CALVO GÓMEZ, JOSÉ RAMÓN EMPLOYEES  

CALVO JAQUES, JOAQUÍN FOUNDING AND COMMUNITY-

INTEREST INSTITUTIONS  

 

CALVO SASTRE, AINA LOCAL AUTHORITIES  

CARBONELL PAU, JUAN DEPOSITORS  

CARBONELL SEBARROJA, FRANCESC 

D'ASSÍS 

EMPLOYEES  

CARNÉS AYATS, JORDI WILLIAM LOCAL AUTHORITIES  

CARRILLO GIRALT, MIQUEL LOCAL AUTHORITIES  

CARRIQUE BÁEZ, ANTONIO JOSÉ DEPOSITORS  

CASADELLÀ AMER, MARC DEPOSITORS  

CASOLIVA PLA, XAVIER LOCAL AUTHORITIES  

CASTÁN PINÓS, JAUME DEPOSITORS  

CASTELLVÍ PIULACHS, JOSEFINA FOUNDING AND COMMUNITY-

INTEREST INSTITUTIONS  

 

COCA RAMÍREZ, MIGUEL DEPOSITORS  

CONSEGAL GARCÍA, FRANCISCO DEPOSITORS  

CORTADELLA FORTUNY, NÚRIA EMPLOYEES  

COTS MORENILLA, MANEL DEPOSITORS  

CUIXART NAVARRO, JORDI FOUNDING AND COMMUNITY-

INTEREST INSTITUTIONS  

 

DOMÉNECH FERRÉ, EMILIO DEPOSITORS  

DONAIRE HERNÁNDEZ, MÓNICA DEPOSITORS  
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DRUDIS SOLÉ, DIVINA FOUNDING AND COMMUNITY-

INTEREST INSTITUTIONS  

 

ERRA ANDREU, IRENE DEPOSITORS  

ESTELLER RUEDAS, M. ÀNGELS LOCAL AUTHORITIES  

FERNÁNDEZ CANO, JOSÉ MANUEL EMPLOYEES  

FERRER FISAS, RAIMON FOUNDING AND COMMUNITY-

INTEREST INSTITUTIONS  

 

FONT PIQUÉ, JOANA DEPOSITORS  

FORN CHIARIELLO, JOAQUIM LOCAL AUTHORITIES  

FREIXES VILA, JORDI EMPLOYEES  

FRIAS MOLINA, JOSEP ANTONI LOCAL AUTHORITIES  

FULLANA MASSANET, JOSEP DEPOSITORS  

GABRIEL COSTA, RAFAEL FOUNDING AND COMMUNITY-

INTEREST INSTITUTIONS  

 

GARCIA CALVÉS, PEDRO LOCAL AUTHORITIES  

GARCÍA CATALÀ, JOSÉ MARÍA DEPOSITORS  

GARICANO ROJAS, ROSA FOUNDING AND COMMUNITY-

INTEREST INSTITUTIONS  

 

GASPART SOLVES, JOAN LOCAL AUTHORITIES  

GELABERT LLAMBÍAS, ISABEL MARIA EMPLOYEES  

GELONCH ÁLVAREZ, CARLOS JAVIER DEPOSITORS  

GIBERT CASANOVAS, MARTA LOCAL AUTHORITIES  

GIFRÉ RIBAS, PERE FOUNDING AND COMMUNITY-

INTEREST INSTITUTIONS  

 

GIL ALUJA, JAUME FOUNDING AND COMMUNITY-

INTEREST INSTITUTIONS  

 

GINÉ VILLUENDAS, MARIA MERCÈ DEPOSITORS  

GODÓ MUNTAÑOLA, JAVIER FOUNDING AND COMMUNITY-

INTEREST INSTITUTIONS  

 

GONZÁLEZ MONTESDEOCA, DELIA DEPOSITORS  

GUÀRDIA CANELA, JOSEP-DELFÍ FOUNDING AND COMMUNITY-

INTEREST INSTITUTIONS  

 

GUIRAO TIRADO, JOSÉ DEPOSITORS  

HABSBURG LOTHRINGEN, MONIKA FOUNDING AND COMMUNITY-

INTEREST INSTITUTIONS  

 

HOMS FERRET, FRANCESC LOCAL AUTHORITIES  

HOSPITAL PEIDRO, GLÒRIA DEPOSITORS  

HUERTA MARTÍN, ALICIA DEPOSITORS  

IBARZ ALEGRIA, JAVIER LOCAL AUTHORITIES  
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JAREÑO RUIZ, ELADIO LOCAL AUTHORITIES  

LACALLE COLL, ENRIC FOUNDING AND COMMUNITY-

INTEREST INSTITUTIONS  

 

LAGUNAS PARDOS, JAVIER ANTONIO DEPOSITORS  

LLIBRE ALEGRE, CATALINA EMPLOYEES  

LLOBET GUIM, JOSEP MARIA LOCAL AUTHORITIES  

LLOBET MARIA, DOLORS EMPLOYEES  

LLORCA IBAÑEZ, MANUEL LOCAL AUTHORITIES  

LÓPEZ BURNIOL, JUAN-JOSÉ FOUNDING AND COMMUNITY-

INTEREST INSTITUTIONS  

 

LÓPEZ MARTÍNEZ, MARIO DEPOSITORS  

LÓPEZ POL, CARME FOUNDING AND COMMUNITY-

INTEREST INSTITUTIONS  

 

MAGRIÑÀ POBLET, JOSEP EMPLOYEES  

MAJÓ CRUZATE, JOAN FOUNDING AND COMMUNITY-

INTEREST INSTITUTIONS  

 

MARGINET LLANAS, ANTONIO DEPOSITORS  

MARQUÈS BARÓ, JOSEP FOUNDING AND COMMUNITY-

INTEREST INSTITUTIONS  

 

MARTÍN MATEO, MIGUEL DEPOSITORS  

MARTÍN PUENTE, ESTEFANÍA JUDIT DEPOSITORS  

MARTÍNEZ MAESTRO, GUSTAVO LOCAL AUTHORITIES  

MASIÀ MARTÍ, RAMON FOUNDING AND COMMUNITY-

INTEREST INSTITUTIONS  

 

MAURI PRIOR, JOSEP MARIA FOUNDING AND COMMUNITY-

INTEREST INSTITUTIONS  

 

MAYORAL ANTIGAS, JOSEP LOCAL AUTHORITIES  

MÉNDEZ ANTÓN, MARÍA JESÚS DEPOSITORS  

MUÑOZ BOU, MA. CARME DEPOSITORS  

MUÑOZ MARTÍNEZ, MARÍA ANTONIA DEPOSITORS  

NAVARRO MORERA, PERE LOCAL AUTHORITIES  

NOGUER PLANAS, MIQUEL LOCAL AUTHORITIES  

NOVELLA MARTÍNEZ, JUSTO BIENVENIDO EMPLOYEES  

OLIVERAS BAGUÉS, JOAN FOUNDING AND COMMUNITY-

INTEREST INSTITUTIONS  

 

OLLÉ BARTOLOMÉ, ALBERT FOUNDING AND COMMUNITY-

INTEREST INSTITUTIONS  

 

OLLER PIÑOL, JORDI EMPLOYEES  

ORTEGA PARRA, JOSÉ DEPOSITORS  
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ORTEGA POVEDA, NURIA DEPOSITORS  

PÀMIES LEFRÈRE, JORDI DEPOSITORS  

PANAL APARICIO, JORDI DEPOSITORS  

PARÉS DALMAU, XAVIER DEPOSITORS  

PEÑALVA ACEDO, FERNANDO FOUNDING AND COMMUNITY-

INTEREST INSTITUTIONS  

 

PIQUÉ FARRÉ, MARIA CARME DEPOSITORS  

PORTABELLA CALVETE, JORDI LOCAL AUTHORITIES  

PRIDA VAL, IRIS DEPOSITORS  

PRIM CALZADA, JOSEP LLUÍS LOCAL AUTHORITIES  

PUENTE PUBILL, JOSEP MANEL FOUNDING AND COMMUNITY-

INTEREST INSTITUTIONS  

 

PUJOL ESTEVE, MARIA ROSA DEPOSITORS  

QUIJANO ROY, ENRIQUE DEPOSITORS  

RAMÍREZ SOLER, FRANCISCO DEPOSITORS  

REALES GUISADO, LLUÍS FOUNDING AND COMMUNITY-

INTEREST INSTITUTIONS  

 

REY CHAO, XOSE MARIO EMPLOYEES  

RIONEGRO SOTILLO, ÓSCAR DEPOSITORS  

ROBLES GORDALIZA, ANA DEPOSITORS  

ROCA PI, EULÀLIA DEPOSITORS  

RODÉS CASTAÑÉ, LEOPOLDO FOUNDING AND COMMUNITY-

INTEREST INSTITUTIONS  

 

RODRÍGUEZ ÁLVAREZ, FRANCISCO DEPOSITORS  

RODRÍGUEZ ESCRIBANO, JUAN CARLOS DEPOSITORS  

ROGLÀ DE LEUW, JORDI FOUNDING AND COMMUNITY-

INTEREST INSTITUTIONS  

 

ROL ARROYO, MARIA DEL CARMEN DEPOSITORS  

ROS DOMINGO, ÀNGEL LOCAL AUTHORITIES  

ROSELL LASTORTRAS, JUAN FOUNDING AND COMMUNITY-

INTEREST INSTITUTIONS  

 

RUFÍ MASÓ, MARC DEPOSITORS  

RUIZ FERNÁNDEZ, MARÍA DEL CARMEN FOUNDING AND COMMUNITY-

INTEREST INSTITUTIONS  

 

RUIZ PALACIO, RICARDO EMPLOYEES  

SABATER VIVES, GASPAR FOUNDING AND COMMUNITY-

INTEREST INSTITUTIONS  

 

SALVADOR ROBLE, M. PAU DEPOSITORS  

SÁNCHEZ PEDRAZA, FRANCISCO JOSÉ DEPOSITORS  
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SELLARÈS CHIVA, JOAN ANTONI DEPOSITORS  

SERRANO HORILLO, ALFREDO SANTIAGO DEPOSITORS  

SIMÓN CARRERAS, JOSEP JOAN LOCAL AUTHORITIES  

SOLDEVILA PASTOR, ROSER DEPOSITORS  

STERNFELD, GIOVANNI DEPOSITORS  

TIMONER SAMPOL, GABRIEL FOUNDING AND COMMUNITY-

INTEREST INSTITUTIONS  

 

TORRAS GÓMEZ, JUAN FOUNDING AND COMMUNITY-

INTEREST INSTITUTIONS  

 

TORRES SANAHUJA, PILAR DE FOUNDING AND COMMUNITY-

INTEREST INSTITUTIONS  

 

TROUILLHET MANSO, MARIA ÁNGELES EMPLOYEES  

TURU BROTO, ROSA MARIA DEPOSITORS  

VILA MEDIÑÀ, JOSEP M. FOUNDING AND COMMUNITY-

INTEREST INSTITUTIONS  

 

VILÁ RECOLONS, ALFONSO FOUNDING AND COMMUNITY-

INTEREST INSTITUTIONS  

 

VILALLONGA VIVES, MARIÀNGELA FOUNDING AND COMMUNITY-

INTEREST INSTITUTIONS  

 

VILLAFAÑÉ GRANDA, PEDRO MANUEL EMPLOYEES  

VILLOSLADA CORREA, FRANCISCO LOCAL AUTHORITIES  

VIVES CORONA, MIGUEL LOCAL AUTHORITIES  

ZARAGOZÀ ALBA, JOSEP FRANCESC EMPLOYEES  

 

 

A.1.4. Where applicable, describe the content of the Regulations of the 

Assembly. 

 

Description 

 

 

A.2. Board of Directors 

 

A.2.8. Where applicable, describe the content of the Regulations of the 

Board of Directors. 

 

 

 


